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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains ‘‘forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements give our
current expectations or forecasts of future events. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do
not relate strictly to historic or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any
discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these forward-looking statements
include statements relating to future actions or the outcome of financial results. From time to time, we also
may provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials released to the public. Any or all of
the forward-looking statements in this annual report and in any other public statements may turn out 1o be
incorrect. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties.

Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual results may vary materially.

Forward-looking statements are based on many factors that may be outside our control, causing actual
results to differ materially from those suggested. These factors include, but are not limited to, those discussed
under the caption “Item 1. Business — Factors That May Affect Our Future Performance.” New factors
emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all these factors nor can we assess the impact
of these factors on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual
results.




Item 1. Business

Overview

Nextera Enterprises exited the technology consulting business during the latter half of 2001 and sold its
human capital consulting business (Sibson) on January 30, 2002. After the January 30, 2002 sale, Nextera
Enterprises consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s leading economics consulting firms. For more than
25 years, Lexecon has provided law firms, corporations and regulatory agencies with expert analysis of
complex economic issues in connection with legal and government proceedings, strategic planning and other
business activities.

Lexecon was founded in 1977. Lexecon’s clients include major law firms and the corporations that they
represent, government and regulatory agencies, public and private utilities and national and multinational
corporations.

Lexecon’s services involve the application of economic, financial and public policy principles to
marketplace issues in a large variety of industries. The firm’s services fall into three broad areas: litigation
support, public policy studies and business consulting.

Litigation Support:  Lexecon provides expert witness testimony, economic analyses, and other litigation-
related services in adversarial proceedings in courts and before regulatory bodies, arbitrators and international
trade organizations. The firm applies economic principles in understanding the specific features of its client’s
business and the competitive and regulatory context in which it operates. Antitrust is Lexecon’s traditional
area of expertise within the litigation support arena where it provides expert advice and written and live
testimony in antitrust proceedings. Litigation support also encompasses financial litigation where the analysis
focus ranges from securities fraud to market manipulation and other areas as well. Litigation support is
Lexecon’s most significant practice area in terms of total revenue, earnings and personnel.

Public Policy Studies: Lexecon has performed numerous public policy studies on behalf of individual
companies, trade associations and governmental agencies in the United States and internationally. Lexecon’s
studies have been submitted to such agencies as the U.S. Department of Transportation, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the National Association of Securities Dealers, the Federal Communications
Commission, and the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Business Consulting: Lexecon assists corporate clients in analyzing business and strategic issues outside
the context of litigation or regulation. Lexecon consults on the likely competitive impact of proposed mergers,
assessing the possible reaction of regulatory agencies, competitors and customers to potential business
combinations. Lexecon also advises on pricing and other strategic decisions, such as entry into new business
areas, addition of new production capacity, and by helping firms assess how competitors are likely to react and
how these events would affect the nature of future competition.

Industry Background

Testimony from economic experts plays a crucial role in a wide variety of judicial and regulatory
proceedings. The role of economists in antitrust cases illustrates the importance of economic testimony.
Economists are used in antitrust cases to define relevant markets, to assess competition in relevant markets, to
examine the competitive effects of various contractual arrangements and business practices, to calculate
damages, and to address other related issues. Economists testify in court on antitrust issues; they also routinely
make presentations to government agencies in connection with government investigations of antitrust issues.

Antitrust is not the only area of litigation or regulation in which economics plays a central role. Economic
testimony and analysis is also routine and critically important in areas such as securities fraud litigation,
intellectual property damages, contract damages, and allegations of market manipulation. Economic analysis
is also central in policy debates and regulatory rule making; Lexecon for example has been actively involved in
policy and regulatory matters in the telecommunication, energy and financial services industries.
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Because of the importance of economic analysis in litigation and regulatory proceedings, an industry of
specialized consulting firms has developed to meet this need. Lexecon and the other firms in this niche of the
consulting industry feature highly qualified testifying experts, who are supported by a professional staff of
consultants (many of whom themselves hold doctorates in economics and other advanced degrees). In many
cases, Lexecon’s direct client is a law firm that represents a company or organization involved in a legal or
regulatory proceeding.

Economic analysis is also valuable in helping businesses make pricing and other strategic decisions, such
as entry into new areas and anticipating competitor reactions.

Qur Advantage

Lexecon has been a leader in the application of economic theory to legal, regulatory and business issues
since the firm’s founding in 1977. Since that time, Lexecon has expanded its service offerings from traditional
antitrust litigation to include a broad range of issues including securities, public policy matters, damage
analysis, and business strategy.

Lexecon’s continued success is due to its ability to produce high quality economic analysis on a timely
basis and its ability to present and defend this analysis effectively. Lexecon’s staff are experts at identifying the
key issues in a case; analyzing these issues using the appropriate methods (which frequently involves the use
of sophisticated statistical techniques); and presenting the results of the analysis in a clear and coherent
manner. Lexecon’s reputation for high quality economic analysis is reflected in the fact that a high percentage
of its new projects are from law firms and corporations that have retained the firm previously. In 2002, 92% of
Lexecon’s net revenues were derived from previous clients.

Lexecon’s staff includes over 150 professional consultants, analysts, and practice support, of which
approximately half have a Ph.D. or master level degree. Lexecon’s staff and affiliate relationships also include
many distinguished academics.

As a result of years of experience, Lexecon has developed a sophisticated knowledge of the economics
and institutional structures in a variety of industries and array of legal and regulatory matters.

Client Profile

Lexecon’s clients include major law firms; domestic and foreign corporations; and governments and
government agencies. Lexecon’s 10 largest clients accounted for approximately 35% of its net revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2002 and 38% for the year ended December 31, 2001. One client accounted for 17%
of Lexecon’s net revenues in 2001. No one client represented more than 10% of Lexecon’s net revenues in
2002. ‘

Competition

The economic and business consulting industry has a large number of competitors comprised of economic
consulting firms, individual academics, accounting firm consulting practices, and general management
consulting firms. We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry are reputation, analytical ability
of our professional staff, client service, and industry expertise. We believe that we compete favorably with
respect to these factors. However, some of our competitors have significantly greater financial and marketing
resources and greater name recognition than Lexecon. We also face competition in our efforts to recruit and
retain professional staff.

Employees

As of December 31, 2002, Nextera had 228 employees, including 156 consultants, analysts and practice
support. None of our employees are represented by a union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement.
We believe that our relations with our employees are good.
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Factors That May Affect Gur Future Performance

You should carefully consider the following risk factors in your evaluation of our company. If any of the
following risks actually occur it could materially harm our business and impair the price of our stock.

We heavily depend on a small number of senior consulting executives and other key personnel, and the
loss of any of them may damage or result in the loss of client relationships and cause our business and
reputation to sufjer.

Our success is highly dependent upon the efforts, abilities, business generation capabilities and project
execution skills of a limited number of senior consulting executives and other key personnel. This dependence
is particularly important to our business because personal relationships and reputations are a critical element
of obtaining and maintaining client engagements. The loss of the services of any of these persons for any
reason could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and our ability to secure and complete
engagements. Several of our senior consulting executives that are responsible for substantially all of our
business are subject to employment and/or non-compete agreements. Additionally, there are some senior
consulting executives whose contracts have already expired or will expire during 2003. We may not be able to
retain these persons or to attract suitable replacements or additional personnel if necessary. We generally do
not maintain key person life insurance coverage for our employees other than certain key management and
consulting personnel.

In addition, if any of these key employees joins a competitor or forms a competing business, some of our
clients might choose to use the services of that competitor or new company. Further, in the event of the loss of
any such personnel, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical
knowledge, practices or procedures by these personnel. As a result, we might lose existing or potential clients.

We may not be able to obtain the additional capital necessary for us to fund the payments necessary for
is to be able to extend the employment and non-compete agreements with two key service providers,
including our Chief Executive Officer. In addition, if we are able to raise additional capital, the terms of
any additional capital may be unfavorable to us or our stockholders.

We have entered into employment and non-compete agreements with our two key service providers:
Daniel Fischel, our Chief Executive Officer, and Dennis Carlton. These agreements currently expire on
July 15, 2003. In order for us to extend these agreements through January 15, 2004, we will need to make
aggregate payments to Messrs. Fischel and Carlton of approximately $3.5 million (including interest) by
July 15, 2003 plus an additional $1.6 million prior to December 31, 2003. In order for us to further extend
these agreements from January 16, 2004 through December 31, 2008, we will need to make aggregate
payments to Messrs. Fischel and Carlton of $20.0 million by January 15, 2004. We will require additional
financing in amounts that we cannot determine at this time in order to make all of the payments required to
extend these agreements to December 31, 2008. We expect that we will need to raise funds through one or
more public or private financing transactions.

If funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our then-current
stockholders may be reduced and the holders of new equity securities may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock. If additional funds are raised through a bank
credit facility or the issuance of debt securities, the holder of this indebtedness would have rights senior to the
rights of the holders of our common stock and the terms of this indebtedness could impose restrictions on our
operations. If we need to raise additional funds, we may not be able to do so on terms favorable to us, or at all.
If we cannot raise adequate funds on acceptable terms, we may be unable to extend the employment and non-
compete agreements and lose the continued services of Messrs. Fischel and Carlton. In such event, our
operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

High levels of debt could adversely affect our business and financial condition

We have very high levels of debt in relation to the size of our business. As of December 31, 2002, we had
$27.2 million of outstanding indebtedness under our Senior Credit Facility, $4.7 million of which was
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classified as a current liability. In addition, as of December 31, 2002, we had $47.7 million of outstanding
indebtedness under debentures payable to affiliates.

Our high leverage could have important consequences, including the following:

o a substantial portion of our future cash flows from operations must be dedicated to the servicing of our
debt, thus reducing the funds available for operations and investments;

o our ability to obtain additional financing may be impaired;

o our leverage may reduce our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions and may make us
more vulnerable to future downturns in the general economy; and

° high levels of debt may reduce the value of stockholders’ investments in Nextera because debt holders
have priority regarding our assets in the event of a bankruptcy or liquidation.

We may not have sufficient future cash flows to meet our debt payments or other obligations, such as
payments to employees, and may not be able to refinance any of our debt at maturity.

We may be unable to comply with certain covenants under our Senior Credir Facility which could vesult in
an acceleration of amounts due and the commencement of foreclosure proceedings.

The Company entered into the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Senior Credit
Facility) on December 31, 2002, with its senior lenders. Under the Senior Credit Facility, the Company is
required to make principal payments of $4.7 million in each of 2003 and 2004. The debt is due in full on
January 1, 2005. Additionally, the Company is required to comply with certain financial and operational
covenants. Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility will bear interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%,
with the potential for the interest rate to be reduced 50 basis points upon Nextera achieving certain financial
and operational milestones. If the Company fails to comply with the covenants contained in the Senior Credit
Facility, the interest rate could increase 200 basis points. Additionally, such an event may permit the senior
lenders to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Credit Facility and foreclose on the assets of the Company.

We face possible delisting from the Nasdag SmallCap Market, which would result in a limited public
market for our Class A Common Stock, and may adversely affect the price and trading volume of our
Class A Common Stock.

There are several requirements for the continued listing of our Class A Common Stock on the Nasdaq
SmallCap Market including, but not limited to, a minimum stock bid price of $1.00 per share. On
February 14, 2002, we received notification from the Nasdaq National Stock Market (Nasdaq) that we had
failed to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 for 30 consecutive days and would be delisted from the
Nasdaq National Market unless by May 15, 2002 we complied with the minimum bid price requirement for at
least 10 consecutive days. Prior to May 15, 2002, we submitted an application to trade on the Nasdag
SmallCap Market, and on June 3, 2002, we began trading on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market.

The Nasdaq SmallCap Market extended us a 180-day grace period to comply with the $1.00 minimum
bid price requirement, which expired on August 13, 2002. We received a further 180-day grace period to
comply with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement from the Nasdaq SmallCap Market, which extension
expired on February 13, 2003. On March 19, 2003, we received a further 90-day extension, or until May 12,
2003, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. Nasdaq announced a proposal on
January 30, 2003 that would extend the time for companies listed on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market to comply
with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement from 180 days to up to 540 days, provided that compliance
with other listing requirements is maintained. This proposal is subject to the review and approval of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Company believes that it may qualify for a further 270-day extension beyond May 12, 2003 to
comply with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement if the Nasdaq proposal is approved. However, there are
no assurances that this proposal will be approved by the SEC or, if approved, that it will not be modified by the
SEC in a manner that would shorten the proposed extension or prevent Nextera from qualifying for any
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extension. Additionally, even if the extension is approved and we are able to qualify for it, we may be unable to
comply with the other requirements for continued listing. If we are unable to satisfy the $1.00 minimum bid
price requirement within the time set by Nasdaq or if we are unable to meet the other requirements for
continued listing, our common stock will be subject to delisting by Nasdaq. If our common stock is delisted,
trading our stock may become more difficult and our stock price could decrease even further. If our common
stock is not listed on Nasdag, many potential investors will not purchase our common stock, which would
further limit the trading market for our common stock.

The Company currently believes that it is in the interest of shareholders to maintain listing on Nasdaq
and for the share price of our common stock to increase so as to potentially increase its trading liquidity and
attract investment by institutional funds and investors that are currently prevented from investing in our
common stock at current price levels. An alternative which the Company may consider is the possibility of
asking our shareholders to authorize a reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock. However, our
shareholders may not approve a reverse stock split, or if a reverse stock split is approved and completed, it may
not result in a sustained minimum bid price for our common stock sufficient to prevent delisting nor can there
be any assurances that the price of our common stock after a reverse stock split will rise in proportion to the
reduction in the number of shares of our common stock outstanding after a reverse stock split becomes
effective. Additionally, even if a reverse stock split has the effect of increasing the price of our common stock,
a broader or more liquid market for our stock may not develop. The lasting effects of a reverse stock split are
unknown and the effects of reverse stock splits for companies in similar situations as ours is varied.

We may not successfully compete with cur competitors, including the retention of our professional
consuliants, which could vesult in reduced revenues and operating profits.

The economic and business consulting industry has a large number of competitors comprised of economic
consulting firms, individual academics, other accounting firm consulting practices, and general management
consulting firms. We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry are reputation, the analytical
ability of our professional staff, client service, and industry expertise. We believe that we compete favorably
with respect to these factors, however, some of our competitors have greater financial and marketing resources
and greater name recognition than Lexecon. Because our business involves the delivery of professional
services, our success depends upon our ability to attract, retain, motivate and train highly skilled consuitants.
We also face competition in our efforts to recruit and retain professional staff. If Lexecon is not successful in
competition with its rivals, including the retention of consultants, it could impair our ability to effectively
manage and complete our client projects and secure future client engagements, and as a result our reputation
could suffer and our future revenues and operating profits could decline.

Even if we are able to retain our current consultants and expand the number of our qualified consultants,
the resources required to attract, retain, motivate and train these consultants could adversely affect our
operating profits.

Nextera Enterprises Holdings owns 69.0% of our voting stock and can control matters submitted to our
stockholders and its interests may be different from yours.

Nextera Enterprises Holdings owns 8,810,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 3,844,200 shares of
Class B Common Stock, which together represent approximately 69.0% of the voting power of our outstanding
common stock. The Class A Common Stock entitles its holders to one vote per share, and the Class B
Common Stock entitles its holders to ten votes per share, on all matters submitted to a vote of our
stockholders, including the election of the members of the Board of Directors. Accordingly, Nextera
Enterprises Holdings will be able to determine the disposition of all matters submitted to a vote of our
stockholders, including mergers, transactions involving a change in control and other corporate transactions
and the terms thereof. In addition, Nextera Enterprises Holdings will be able to elect all of our directors. This
control by Nextera Enterprises Holdings could materially adversely affect the market price of the Class A
Common Stock or delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
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Nextera Enterprises Holdings is indirectly controlled by Knowledge Universe, Inc. Knowledge Universe,
Inc. was formed by Lawrence J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken to build, through a
combination of internal development and acquisitions, leading companies in a broad range of areas relating to
career management, technology and education and the improvement of individual and corporate performance.
Knowledge Universe, Inc. may form, invest in or acquire other businesses which are involved in these and
related areas, among others, which businesses may be operated under the control of Knowledge Universe, Inc.
independently of us. Potential conflicts of interest between Knowledge Universe and us may arise and may not
be resolved in our favor. These potential conflicts of interest include competitive business activities, indemnity
arrangements, registration rights, sales or distributions by Nextera Enterprises Holdings of our Class A and
Class B Common Stock and the exercise by Nextera Enterprises Holdings of its ability to control our
management and affairs. This control and the potential conflicts of interest it creates could limit our future
independence and harm our reputation.

We were formed in February 1997 by entities which were under the direct or indirect control of Lawrence
J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken. After our formation, ownership of our common stock
originally held by our founding entities was transferred to Nextera Enterprises Holdings. Lawrence J. Ellison,
Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken may each be deemed to have the power to control Knowledge
Universe, Inc. As a result, Lawrence J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowelil J. Milken may each be deemed
to have the power to direct the voting and disposition of, and to share beneficial ownership of, any shares of
common stock owned by Nextera Enterprises Holdings. On February 24, 1998, without admitting or denying
any liability, Michael R. Milken consented to the entry of a final judgment in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Michael R. Milken et al., which
judgment was entered on February 26, 1998, restraining and enjoining Michael R. Milken from associating
with any broker, dealer, investment advisor, investment company, or municipal securities dealer and from
violating Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act.

We have a history of losses and there is no assurance that we can achieve or sustain profitability in the
Sfuture,

Since our inception in February 1997, we have incurred, on an historical basis, net losses of $3.0 million
and $17.2 million for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998 and net losses of $24.0 million and
$117.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001.

As a result, it is possible that we may not obtain net income in the future.

If we fail to meet our clients’ expectations, we could damage our reputation and have difficuity attracting
new business and our engagements may vesult in professional liability.

Our client engagements often involve projects that are complex and critical to the operation of a client’s
business and involve difficult analytical assignments that carry risks of professional and other liability. Many of
our engagements involve matters that could have a severe impact on the client’s business, cause the client to
lose significant amounts of money, or prevent the client from pursuing desirable business opportunities. OQur
failure or inability to meet a client’s expectations, or the law firm that engaged us, in the performance of our
services could result in litigation against us and damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our
ability to attract new business from that client or others. In addition, if we fail to perform adequately on a
project, a client could refuse to pay or sue us for economic damages which could further damage our
reputation or cause a reduction in future revenues and operating profits. Litigation alleging that we performed
negligently or otherwise breached our obligations to the client could expose us to significant liabilities and
tarnish our reputation.




We have relied and may continue to rely on a limited number of clients and industries for a significant
portion of our vevenues and, as a result, the loss of or a significant reduction in work performed for any
of them could vesult in reduced revenues.

We have in the past derived, and may in the future derive, a significant portion of our net revenues from a
relatively limited number of clients. To the extent that any client or industry uses less of our services or
terminates its relationship with us, our revenues could decline accordingly. Lexecon’s 10 largest clients
accounted for approximately 35% and 38% of its net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. No client represented greater than 10% of Lexecon’s net revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

The volume of work we perform for a specific client is likely to vary from year to year, and a significant
client in one year may not use our services in another year. Further, the failure to collect a large account
receivable from any of these clients could result in significant financial exposure. In addition, any economic
conditions or other factors adversely affecting any of the industries or any increase in the size or number of
competitors within the industries we service could cause our revenues to decline.

Our guarterly revenues and operating results have vavied significantly and, if they continue to do so, the
market price of our stock could decline.

Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter and may continue to do so in the
future. Our quarterly financial results could be impacted significantly by the timing, mix and number of active
client projects commenced and completed during a quarter, the variations in utilization rates and average
billing rates for our consultants and the accuracy of our estimates of resources required to complete our
ongoing projects. Our operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue levels in the short-term, are
relatively fixed, and are incurred throughout the quarter. As a result, if expected revenues are not realized as
anticipated, our quarterly and yearly financial results could be materially harmed.

Government regulation and legal uncertainty relating to our markets could result in decreased demand
Jor our services, increased costs or otherwise harm our business causing a reduction in vevenues and
operating income.

We derive a substantial amount of our net revenues from economic and litigation consulting services
related to antitrust matters, public policy and regulatory matters, mergers and acquisitions and securities
matters. A substantial portion of these net revenues were derived from engagements relating to United States
antitrust and securities laws. Changes in these laws, changes in judicial interpretations of these laws or less
vigorous enforcement of these laws by the United States Department of Justice, the United States Federal
Trade Commission or other federal agencies as a result of changes in philosophy, political decisions, priorities
or other reasons could materially reduce the magnitude, scope, number or duration of engagements available
to us in these areas.

In addition, adverse changes in general economic conditions or conditions influencing merger and
acquisition activity could have a continued adverse impact on engagements in which we assist clients in
connection with these types of transactions. Any reductions in the number of our securities, antitrust and
mergers and acquisitions consulting engagements could cause a reduction in our revenues and operating
income.

If a large client project or a significant number of other client projects arve terminated or reduced, or if
we do not attract a sufficient number of new projects, we may have a large number of employees who are
not generating revenue.

Our clients engage us on a project-by-project basis, primarily without a written contract, and a client can
generally terminate an engagement with little or no notice to us and without penalty. When a client defers,
modifies or cancels a project, we must be able to rapidly deploy our consultants to other projects in order to
minimize the underutilization of our employees. In addition, our operating expenses are relatively fixed and
cannot be reduced on short notice to compensate for unanticipated variations in the number or size of projects
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in progress. Thus, any termination, significant reduction or modification of our business relationships with any
of our significant clients or with a number of smaller clients would have an adverse impact on our ability to
generate revenue. As a result, we believe that the number of our clients or the number and size of our existing
projects may not be reliable indicators or measures of future net revenues.

Loss of or limitations on our net operating loss carryforward.

We have a substantial net operating loss carryforward that may be used in the future to reduce our federal
tax liability. We established a full valuation allowance against the net operating loss carryforward, along with
all other deferred tax assets, to reflect the uncertainty of the recoverability of this asset. The utilization of this
asset in the future is dependent upon the Company having positive earnings. Furthermore, the likelihood of an
annual limitation on our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforward to offset future U.S. federal
taxable income is increased by (i) the issuance of certain convertible preferred stock, options, warrants, or
other securities exercisable for common stock, (ii) changes in our equity ownership occurring in the last three
years and (iii) potential future changes in our equity ownership. The amount of an annual limitation can vary
significantly based on certain factors existing at the date of an ownership change. If such limitations were
imposed, they could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flows.

Potential conflicts of interests reduce the number of both potential clients and engagements.

We provide economic and litigation consulting services primarily in connection with significant or
complex transactions, disputes or other matters that are usually adversarial or that involve sensitive client
information. Cur engagement by a client to provide such services frequently precludes us from accepting
engagements with other entities involved in the same matter. In addition, we may decide to decline
engagements due to clients’ expectations of loyalty, perceived conflicts of interests or other reasons.
Furthermore, potential clients may decline to request our services due to perceptions of loyalty, perceived
conflicts of interests or other reasons based on matters we may be currently working on or may have worked on
in the past. Accordingly, the number of both potential clients and potential engagements is limited,
particularly in the economic consulting and litigation services markets.

Potential write-off of goodwill and other intangible assets relating to personnel could reduce our
operating results.

As of December 31, 2002, our intangible assets were approximately $77.5 million. Intangible assets at
December 31, 2002, included $77.0 million of goodwill and $0.5 million for intangibles relating to personnel.
Intangible assets had been amortized prior to 2002 on a straight-line basis principally over 40 years for
goodwill and over five years for intangibles relating to personnel. We ceased amortizing goodwill and
intangible assets relating to personnel commencing January 1, 2002 in accordance with Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.

In accordance with accounting guidelines, we are required to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill on an
annual basis as well as when indications of possible impairment are present by reviewing the fair value of the
goodwill and-comparing such fair value to the carrying value of the associated goodwill. If goodwill becomes
impaired, we will be required to write down the carrying value of the goodwill and incur a related charge to our
operations. A write down of goodwill would result in a reduction in our operating results.

Our stock price may be volatile and you counld lose all or part of your investment.

We expect that the market price of our common stock will be volatile. Stock prices in our and similar
industries have risen and fallen in response to a variety of factors, including:

o quarter-to-quarter variations in operating results;
o entering into, or failing to enter into or renew, a material contract;

o acquisitions of, or strategic alliances among, companies within our industry;
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o changes in investor perceptions of the acceptance or profitability of consulting; and

o market conditions in the industry and the economy as a whole.

The market price for our common stock may also be affected by our ability to meet investors’ or securities
analysts’ expectations. Any failure to meet these expectations, even slightly, may result in a decline in the
market price of our common stock. In addition, the stock market is subject to extreme price and volume
fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the market prices of securities issued by many
companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. In the past, following
periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often
been instituted against that company. If similar litigation were instituted against us, it could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

Provisions in our charvter documents and Delaware law may delay or prevent an acquisition of us, which
could decrease the value of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and provisions of Delaware law could delay, defer
or prevent an acquisition or change of control of us or otherwise decrease the price of our common stock.
These provisions include:

» authorizing our board of directors to issue additional preferred stock;
o prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;

o limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;
» prohibiting stockholder actions by written consent; and

o establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K,
proxy statements and amendments to those reports, are available free of charge on our internet website at
http://www.nextera.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with, or furnished to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Information contained on our website is not part of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Cambridge, Massachusetts in a leased facility. We also occupy
leased office space in Chicago, Illinois and a second office in Cambridge, Massachusetts. We have office space
in New York, New York; San Francisco, California; Rochester, New York, and Toronto, Canada, for which
we are either subletting or attempting to sublet. We believe that our existing facilities are adequate to meet our
current requirements and that suitable space will be available as needed on terms acceptable to us.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business, the outcome of which, in the opinion of management, would not have a material adverse
effect on us. :
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Egquity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, traded on the Nasdaq National Market from
May 18, 1999 through June 2, 2002 and has traded on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market from and after June 3,
2002 under the symbol “NXRA.” The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices for our Class A
Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market and the Nasdaq SmallCap Market in each of the
four quarters of fiscal 2002 and 2001.

Calendar year — 2002
ISt QUar e . . oo e $0.73  $0.25
Second QUATLET .. .. ... ittt e $1.04 $0.30
Third QUarter . ... ..o $0.80  $0.33
Fourth QuUarter. .. ... ... . $0.66  $0.28
High  Low

Calendar year — 2001

First Quarter. . ... ..o e $2.25  $0.59
Second QUArter . ... ... i $1.11  $0.45
Third Quarter . ... o i e $0.61  $0.12
Fourth Quarter. ... ... . e $0.50  $0.13

As of March 21, 2003 there were 30,025,441 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding held by
approximately 262 holders of record.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not intend to pay
dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. Additionally, our Senior Credit Facility currently
prohibits the payment of dividends on our Common Stock. We intend to retain any earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables contain selected consolidated financial data as of December 31 for each of the years
1998 through 2002 and for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2002. The selected
consolidated financial data have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements.

When you read this summary, it is important that you read along with it the financial statements and
related notes in our annual and quarterly reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well
as the section of our annual and quarterly reports titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
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December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2002(1) 2001(2) 2000(3) 1999(4) 1998(5)

(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:

Net revenues . ....o.oovveevennn.. $75,921 $ 132,146 $177,270 $173,698 $ 77,509
Costof revenues . ............... 45,890 86,445 114,664 105,578 54,904

Gross profit .................. 30,031 45,701 62,606 68,120 22,605
Selling, general and administrative

EXPeNSES . . ..ttt 18,243 44,064 61,066 44,975 23,103
Amortization expense. ........... — 4,758 5,436 4,723 1,722
Goodwill impairment ............ — 72,538 — — —
Special charges (credit) ......... (740) 23,534 8,162 7,405 7,969
Income (loss) from operations .. .. 12,528 (99,193) (12,058) 11,017 (10,189)
Interest expense, net............. (6,747) (10,128) (7,773) (8,836) (6,723)
Other income (expense), net .. ... — (7,148) (5,432) — —
Income (loss) before income taxes 5,781 (116,469) (25,263) 2,181 (16,912)
Provision (benefit) for income

TAXES . ot 113 1,054 (1,291) . (884) 243
Net income (loss) .............. $ 5,668 $(117,523)  $(23,972) $ 3,065 $(17,155)
Preferred stock dividends......... (1,347) (1,846) (98) — —
Net income (loss) applicable to

common stockholders.......... $ 4,321 $(119,369)  $(24,070) $ 3,065 $(17,155)
Net income (loss) per common

share, basic .................. $ 012 $ (341) $ (0.69) $ 0.10 $ (1.14)
Net income (loss) per common

share, diluted................. $ 011 $ (341) $ (0.69) $ 0.10 $ (1.14)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding, basic ............. 35,730 35,034 35,121 29,990 14,997
Weighted average common shares

outstanding, diluted ........... 53,154 35,034 35,121 30,441 14,997

(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

The 2002 results of operations include one month of the results of operations of Sibson & Company,
which was sold in January 2002.

The 2001 results of operations include nine months of the results of operations of the technology
consulting business, which was exited in October 2001.

The 2000 results of operations include eleven and one-half months of the results of operation of
Cambridge Economics, Inc., which was acquired January 10, 2000.

The 1999 results of operations include the full year results of operations for Lexecon, Inc., which was
acquired December 30, 1998, and seven months of the results of operations of the Economics Resource
Group, Inc., which was acquired June 1, 1999.

The 1998 results of operations include four months of the results of operations of Sibson & Company,
which was acquired August 31, 1998, nine months of the results of operations of Pyramid Imaging, Inc.,
which was acquired in March 1998, and the full year results of operations of Sigma Consulting LLC,
which was acquired in January 1998.

All years have-been adjusted to reflect reimbursable expenses as net revenues and cost of sales in

accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01-14 “Income Statement Characterization of Reimburse-
ment Received for “Out-of-Pocket Expenses” Incurred.”
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December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(dollar amounts in thousands)
Consolidated Balance

Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents........ $ 1,606 $ 4465 $ 4,322 $ 7,011 $ 1,496
Working capital (deficit)......... 5,196 (5,140) 11,474 33,035 (62,399)
Total assets .................... 107,218 121,182 234,102 226,762 176,691
Total short-term debt and capital

lease obligations .............. 5,424 17,118 13,962 938 82,487
Total long-term debt and capital

lease obligations .............. 70,996 48,245 52,468 56,798 55,749
Total stockholders’ equity ........ 11,907 25,499 141,977 146,057 14,852

ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations

Overview

The Company operates in one business segment, consulting services. During 2001, the Company enacted
a restructuring plan to exit the technology consulting business and human capital consulting business and to
focus on the strength of its economic consulting business. The technology consulting business was completely
exited in the second half of 2001, primarily through the termination of consultants upon the completion of
existing contracts and, to a lesser extent, the assignment of contracts and the workforce associated with those
contracts to a third party. The human capital consulting business was sold to a third party on January 30, 2002.
The Company currently consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s leading economics consulting firms.

The Company generates net revenues by providing economic consulting services primarily under time and
materials (including charges for the use of its computer system}), and to a much lesser extent, fixed-price or
capped-fee billing arrangements. Under time and materials billing arrangements, revenues are recognized as
the services are performed. Revenues on fixed-price and capped-fee contracts are recognized using the
percentage of completion method of accounting and are adjusted for the cumulative impact of any revision in
estimates. We believe that the majority of our work will continue to be performed under time and materials
billing arrangements. Net revenues include reimbursable expenses charged to clients. We typically bill on a
monthly basis to monitor client satisfaction and manage our outstanding accounts receivable balances. Our net
revenues are substantially derived from clients located in the United States.

Gross profit is derived from net revenues less the cost of revenues, which includes salaries, bonuses and
benefits paid to consultants. Qur financial performance is primarily based upon billing margin (billable rate
less the consultant’s cost) and personnel utilization rates (billable hours divided by standard available hours).
We monitor our engagements to manage billing and utilization rates. Generally, clients are billed for expenses
incurred by us on the clients’ behalf. In addition, we closely monitor and attempt to control expenses that are
not passed through to our clients. Incentive compensation expenses paid to consultants have a large variable
component relating to net revenues and gross profit and, therefore, vary based upon our ability to achieve our
operating objectives.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and benefits of certain senior management
and other administrative personnel and training, information technology, marketing and promotional costs.
These expenses are associated with our development of new business and with our management, finance,
recruiting, marketing and administrative activities. Incentive compensation expenses for certain senior
management also have a significant variable component relating to operating income and, therefore, vary
based upon our ability to achieve our operating objectives.

Our tax provisions historically vary from the federal statutory rate of 34% predominately due to valuation
allowance adjustments, state and local taxes and nondeductible meal expenses.
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Sale of Human Capital Consulting Business

Effective January 30, 2002, the Company sold substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of its
human capital censulting business to a privately-held benefits, compensation and human resources consulting
firm, for a total of $14.0 million in cash (subject to a working capital adjustment) and a potential future
earnout based on operating results over the next two years. All consultants and support staff of the human
capital consulting business were transferred to the acquiring company. The net assets sold, including
unimpaired goodwill, were classified as “Assets held for sale” on the December 31, 2001 balance sheet.

The human capital consulting business had revenues of $1.9 million, $43.4 million, and $67.5 million in
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Income (loss) from operations of the human capital consulting group was
$(0.3) million, $(50.1) million, and $0.1 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Approximately
$40.5 million of the 2001 loss was due to goodwill impairment charges.

Exiting of the Technology Consulting Business

During 2001, with the erosion of the demand for technology services, the technology consulting business
was substantially reduced primarily through workforce reduction. Effective October 1, 2001, the Company
assigned the remaining significant technology contracts to a third party which also assumed the workforce
associated with those contracts. With this assignment, the Company effectively exited the technology
consulting business and as of December 31, 2001 had no contracts or consultants related to this business.

The technology consulting business had revenues of $13.3 million and $47.4 million in 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Loss from operations of the technology consulting business was $(51.2) million and $(24.1) mil-
lion in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Approximately $32.0 million of the 2001 loss was due to goodwill
impairment charges.

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock

On December 14, 2000, the Company entered into a Note Conversion Agreement with Knowledge
Universe, Inc. (the Note Conversion Agreement). Under the terms of the Note Conversion Agreement,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. converted $21.0 million of debentures into 210,000 shares of $0.001 par value
Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock). The Series A Preferred Stock
bears dividends at a 10% rate from issuance through June 30, 2001 and at a 7% rate thereafter. Such dividends
are payable quarterly in arrears in cash or, at the option of the Company, in additional nonassessable shares of
Series A Preferred Stock.

Effective July 23, 2002, the Company exchanged $20.0 million of Series A Preferred Stock into a
debenture (the Exchange Debenture) with terms equivalent to those contained in the debentures exchanged
for the Series A Preferred Stock on December 14, 2000. Solely for purposes of determining the principal
amount of the Exchange Debenture, the Series A Preferred Stock was deemed to have accrued dividends at a
rate equal to 12%, retroactive to December 14, 2000. Accordingly, the principal amount of the Exchange
Debenture was $21.3 million on July 23, 2002. After the exchange of the Series A Preferred for the Exchange
Debenture, $3.9 million of Series A Preferred Stock remained outstanding on July 23, 2002.

Acquisitions

The Company was founded in February 1997 and focused on building its portfolio of practice areas
primarily through selective acquisitions through January 2000 and, to a lesser extent, internal growth.
Accordingly, our historical Consolidated Financial Statements include operating results of the acquired
companies only from the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Cambridge Economics, Inc., a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides strategic, economic and
business transformation and other services to a diverse group of domestic and international clients. Cambridge
Economics was acquired for $8.4 million of cash and a $2.1 million promissory note due January 2002 that has
been paid.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the year ended December 31:

2002 2001 2000
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Netrevenues. ...........cooevuinn.... $75,921 100% § 132,146 100% $177,270 100%
Costofrevenues...................... 45,890 _60 __ 86,445 65 114,664 65
Grossprofit.......................... 30,031 40 45,701 35 62,606 35
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES .« « vttt 18,243 24 44,064 33 61,066 34
Amortization expense ................. — — 4,758 4 5,436 3
Goodwill Impairment ................. — — 72,538 55 — -
Special charges (credit) ............... (740) (1) 23,534 18 8,162 _ 5
Income (loss) from operations.......... 12,528 17 (99,193)  (75) (12,058) (7N
Interest expense, net .................. (6,747) (%) (10,128) (8) (7,773) (4)

Otherexpense........................ — (7,148)  (5) (5.432) (3)

8

Income (loss) before income taxes ...... 5,781 (116,469)  (88) (25,263) (14)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .. ... 113 = 1,054 1 (1,291) (1)
Net income (1oss) ... ... . $ 5,668 8% $(117,523) (89)% $(23,972) (13)%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2002 and the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net Revenues. Net revenues decreased 42.5% to $75.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
from $132.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, This decrease was attributable to a decrease in
human capital and technology consulting revenues which declined $41.5 million and $13.3 million, respec-
tively, due to the exiting of these two businesses. The economic consulting business also declined in 2002 by
$1.4 million, or 1.9%, to $74.0 million from $75.4 millicn in 2001. The economic consulting business revenue
decline is a function of the timing of the ending of existing project engagements and the beginning of new
project engagements and the size of the respective engagements. Lexecon’s largest client in 2001, which
accounted for 17% of Lexecon’s 2001 net revenues, only accounted for 3% of net revenues in 2002 due to the
substantial completion of Lexecon’s work on this phase of the case. Work on additional phases may or may not
occur. Revenues from new clients or increased revenues from existing clients offset the majority of the drop in
net revenues from the prior year’s largest client. The utilization of economic consulting business consultants
decreased to 68.5% in 2002 from 76.8% in 2001. Billing rates increased by approximately 7.9% in 2002 from
2001 and consultant headcount, the other component affecting net revenues other than utilization and billing
rates, was fairly constant in 2002 and 2001. Lexecon’s annual revenue per professional in 2002 was $471,000
down 3.3% from $487,000 in 2001.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit decreased 34.3% to $30.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from
$45.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues increased to
39.6% in 2002 from 34.6% in 2001. The decrease in gross profit was primarily due to the sale of the human
capital consulting business in January 2002, which had generated gross profit of $15.9 million in 2001
compared to $0.8 million in 2002. The gross profit of the technology consulting business was $(0.8) in 2001.
The gross profit of the economic consulting business decreased from $30.6 million in 2001 to $29.1 million in
2002, primarily due to lower net revenues in 2002 and higher fixed costs. The increase in gross profit as a
percentage of net revenues was primarily attributed to the absence of the low gross margin technology
consulting business in 2002. The economic consulting business gross profit as a percentage of net revenues
decreased to 39.4% for the year ended December 31, 2002 from 40.6% for the year ended December 31, 2001
due to lower net revenues, as a result of lower utilization,in the year ended December 31, 2002, and increased
fixed compensation costs.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
$25.9 million, or 58.7%, to $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $44.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. As a percentage of net revenues, such expenses decreased to 24.0% in 2002 from
33.3% in 2001. The decrease is attributable to the following components: a decrease of $4.6 million in selling
and marketing expense; a $6.1 million decrease in compensation, primarily relating to reduced support
infrastructure due to exiting the technology consulting business in the second half of 2001 and the sale of the
human capital consulting business in January 2002; a decrease of $6.1 million in general office expense,
primarily bad debt expense ($2.6 million), legal and audit expenses ($1.0 million), and costs associated with
equipment leases ($0.7 million); a $7.9 million decrease in facility cost, attributed to the exiting of certain
leased properties; and a $1.2 million decrease in development expenses, primarily recruiting expenses
associated with the technology and human capital consulting businesses.

Goodwill Impairment. During 2001, the Company recorded a $72.5 million goodwill impairment
charge. The technology consulting services goodwill charge was $32.0 million due to the exiting of the
technology consulting business and the human capital consulting business charge was $40.5 million due to the
decline in the value of the business directly related to the downturn in the economy. The impairment of the
human capital services business was based on the sale price of the business excluding any contingent
consideration that may be achieved in the future based on the performance of the human capital consulting
business. No goodwill impairment was recorded in 2002.

Amortization Expense. Amortization expense decreased from $4.8 million in 2001 to zero in 2002. The
Company ceased amortizing goodwill and intangible assets relating to personnel commencing January 1, 2002
in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets”.

Special Charges. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a net reversal of
$0.7 million of previously recorded restructuring reserves due to the favorable settlement of real estate rental
obligations. The reversal had the effect of increasing diluted earnings per share by $0.01 for the second quarter
of 2002 and for the year ended December 31, 2002.

The restructuring charges and their utilization in 2002 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Reserves
Balance at - established with Balance at
December 31, 2002 Utilized the sale of December 31,
2001 credit  Non-Cash Cash business unit(1) 2002
Severance......... ... $ 255 $ — $§ — $ (255 $ — § —
Facilities. .. .................... 5,579 (740) (1,183) (2,561) 285 1,380
Fixed Assets, other asset write-
downs and other operating lease
obligations ................... 308 — (120) (554) 450 84
$6,142 $(740) $(1,303) $(3,370) $735 $1,464

(1) In connection with the sale of the human capital consulting business, a portion of the proceeds received in
excess of the net assets acquired were used to establish restructuring reserves for liabilities and obligations
relating to the human capital business that were not assumed by the buyer.

Of the $1.5 million of restructuring reserves recorded at December 31, 2002, approximately $1.0 million
of cash is expected to be expended over the next twelve months, primarily related to real estate rental
obligations and lease commitments, with the majority of the remainder expected to be paid over the following
two years.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2001, the Company approved actions to re-align and re-size the
Company’s cost structure, primarily within the technology consulting services group, as a result of softening
market conditions and reduced demand for technological services. As a result, the Company recorded special
charges totaling $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance, $0.6 million for the termination of
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certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises,
and $2.4 million related to certain employee retention incentives. The headcount reductions included
48 consultants and 7 administrative personnel.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company decided to re-align and re-size the Company’s
cost structure. As a result, the Company recorded charges totaling $8.0 million, consisting of a $1.8 million
severance charge associated with the second quarter’s headcount reduction of 60 professional and support
personnel, primarily in the technology consulting business; a $5.1 million charge to provide for the expected
costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises and an employee retention incentive-related expense of
$1.1 million.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded $8.8 million of special charges for
continued restructuring efforts. Included within this charge was $1.1 million of severance associated with
headcount reductions in the quarter, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing
certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets) and leasehold improve-
ments, and an employee retention incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $1.3 million of special charges.
Included within this charge was $0.5 million of severance associated with headcount reductions in the quarter,
$0.3 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises, and a
$0.5 million write-down of assets (fixed assets).

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased 33.4% to $6.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 from $10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease was primarily due to lower
outstanding debt under the Company’s senior credit facility, which declined from an average balance of
$44.2 million in 2001 to $29.4 million in 2002 as a result of debt repayments, coupled with steadily decreasing
interest rates and lower associated bank fees.

Other Expense. During 2002, the Company recorded an expense of $0.6 million to write down an
investment in a company affiliated with Knowledge Universe to fair value which was offset in full by a
$0.6 million gain relating to the reversal of reserves established as part of the Company’s sale of it’s human
capital consulting business. Other expense was $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 relating to
charges associated with the write down to fair value of certain investments. These investments were reviewed
and written down to fair value when they were judged to be permanently impaired.

Income taxes. The Company recorded income tax expense of $0.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The 2002 expense relates
to state and local taxes. The 2001 expense related to foreign and state taxes and an adjustment to the prior
year tax accrual. Valuation allowances have been established at December 31, 2002 and 2001 relating to all
deferred tax assets that must be realized through the generation of taxable income in future periods.

Subsequent Events. In connection the execution of employment and non-compete contracts with
Messrs. Fischel and Carlton, the Company anticipates incurring approximately $4.2 million in amortization
charges during the first two quarters of 2003 and further anticipates incurring an additional $5.0 million in
amortization charges in the last two quarters of 2003 if the Company elects to extend these agreements from
July 16, 2003 to January 135, 2004.

In connection with the resignation of David Schneider, the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer, in
February 2003, the Company will incur a $1.9 million charge in the first quarter of 2003. Approximately
$0.8 million relates to salary continuance until February 2004 and approximately $1.1 million relates to a non-
cash charge for fully vested options, with an exercise price of $2.00 per share, which were previously being
expensed over the anticipated service period. In accordance with his original employment agreement,
Mr. Schneider was to be granted a bonus, if and only if the above mentioned options vested and became
exercisable, equal to the exercise price of the options at the time of the exercise of the options. The portion of
the option exercise price bonus not expensed at the time of Mr. Schneider’s resignation is required to be
expensed immediately due to the accelerated vesting of the options which occurred as a result of
Mr. Schneider’s resignation.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2001 and the Year Ended December 31, 2000

Net Revenues. Net revenues decreased 25.5%, or $45.2 million, to $132.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $177.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was attributable
to a decrease in technology and human capital consulting revenues which declined $34.1 million and
$24.2 million, respectively, due to decreased demand for such services. The decline in technology and human
capital revenues were partially offset by a $13.1 million increase in economic consulting revenues.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit decreased 27.0% to $45.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$62.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues decreased to
34.6% in 2001 from 35.3% in 2000. The decrease in gross profit directly correlates with the 25.5% decline in
net revenues in 2001 from 2000. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net revenues was due primarily
to the wind down and eventual exiting of the technology consulting business and due to higher compensation
cost related to the economic consulting business.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
27.8% to $44.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $61.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. As a percentage of net revenues, such expenses decreased to 33.3% in 2001 from 34.4% in
2000. The decrease in spending resulted primarily from $6.8 million in lower sales and marketing spending,
$4.8 million in lower general office expenses, $2.7 million in lower support staff compensation, and $2.9 million
in lower spending in development, primarily recruiting. Substantially all of the above reductions were made in
the technology and human capital consulting business in connection with the exiting of the technology
consulting business and cost reductions in the human capital business due to the decline in the demand for
such services.

Goodwill Impairment. During 2001, the Company recorded a $72.5 million goodwill impairment
charge. The technology consulting services goodwill charge was $32.0 million due to the exiting of the
technology consulting business and the human capital consulting business charge was $40.5 million due to the
decline in the value of the business directly related to the downturn in the economy. The impairment of the
human capital services business was based on the sale price of the business excluding any contingent
consideration that may be achieved in the future based on the performance of the human capital consulting
business.

Special Charges. During the quarter ended March 31, 2001, the Company approved actions to re-align
and re-size the Company’s cost structure, primarily within the technology consulting services group, as a result
of softening market conditions and reduced demand for technological services. As a result, the Company
recorded special charges totaling $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance, $0.6 million for the
termination of certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or reducing certain
leased premises, and $2.4 million related to certain employee retention incentives. The headcount reductions
included 48 consultants and 7 administrative personnel.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company decided to re-align and re-size the Company’s
cost structure. As a result, the Company recorded charges totaling $8.0 million, consisting of a $1.8 million
severance charge associated with the second quarter’s headcount reduction of 60 professional and support
personnel, primarily in the technology consulting business; a $3.1 million charge to provide for the expected
costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises and an employee retention incentive-related expense of
$1.1 million.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded $8.8 million of special charges for
continued restructuring efforts. Included within this charge was $1.1 million of severance associated with
headcount reductions in the quarter, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing
certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets), and an employee
retention incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $1.3 million of special charges.
Included within this charge was $0.5 million of severance associated with headcount reductions in the quarter,
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$0.3 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises, and a
$0.5 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets).

The restructuring charges and their utilization in 2001 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Balance at o Balance at
December 31, Q12001 Q22001 Q32001 Q4 2001 Utilized Accrual  December 31,
2000 Charge  Charge  Charge  Charge Non-Cash Cash Adjustment 2001
Severance ............ $1,301 $1,574 $1,834 $1,072 § 465 § — § (5,562) §(429) $ 255
Facilities ............. 1,056 97 4,537 3,554 300 — (3,365%) (600) 5,579
Employee Special
Incentives .......... 1,736 2,378 1,090 180 —  (1,143) (4,241) — —
Fixed Assets, other asset
write-downs and other
operating lease
obligations .......... 377 755 584 3,998 511 (6,517) — 600 308
Other ............. ... — 605 — — — — (605) — —

$4,470  $5400 $8,045 $8,804 $1276 $(7,660) $(13,773) $(429)  $6,142

In the fourth quarter 2000, the Company awarded to certain employees special retention incentive-related
compensation awards. Such awards totaled $6.7 million and were paid in cash and restricted stock during
2001, subject to employees remaining employed by the Company on the dates of the payments. The Company
recorded a special charge of $2.3 million in 2000 associated with the pro rata share of such payments over the
associated vesting period.

In October and December 2000, the Company implemented a plan to reduce its consulting and
administrative staffs, resulting in severance costs of approximately $2.4 million. Approximately $1.7 million of
this charge was paid in the fourth quarter of 2000 and the remainder of the accrual was paid in the first quarter
of 2001. In total, 108 consultants and administrative personnel were terminated. In June 2000, the Company
recorded a charge of $1.9 million as a result of severance costs incurred for seven individuals in connection
with management changes at the Company’s technology consulting business.

Primarily as a result of the fourth quarter workforce reduction described above, the Company identified
and made plans to vacate certain portions of its leased facilities, The Company recorded a charge of
$1.5 million associated with the cost of exiting these facilities, net of estimated sublease income, all of which
was accrued as of December 31, 2000.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased 29.5% to $10.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to fees
associated with the March 30, 2001 amendment to the Senior Credit Facility coupled with a higher average
bank debt during 2001.

Other Expense. Other expense increased by 31.6% to $7.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The 2001 charges were associated with the
write down to fair market value of certain investments. The 2000 charges also related to a write down to fair
market value of certain investments. The write-downs were substantially related to the downturn in the
technology sector that began in the middle of 2000 and continued into 2001. As the downturn progressed, the
valuation of the Company’s equity investments were reviewed and the investments were written down to fair
value when they were judged to be permanently impaired.

Income taxes. The Company recorded income tax expense of $1.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to a tax benefit of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The 2001
expense related to foreign and states taxes and an adjustment to the prior year tax accrual. The 2000 benefit
related to the ability to carryback the 2000 loss to prior years. Valuation allowances have been established at
December 31, 2001 and 2000 relating to all deferred tax assets that must be realized through the generation of
taxable income in future periods.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated working capital was $5.2 million on December 31, 2002, compared with working capital of a
negative $5.1 million on December 31, 2001. Included in working capital were cash and cash equivalents of
$1.6 million and $4.5 million on December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Net cash used in operating activities was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The primary
components of net cash used in operating activities were $8.6 million resulting from a decrease in accounts
payable (primarily due to $4.2 million of variable compensation paid in December of 2002 along with a
$3.1 million lower overall variable compensation accrual), and $3.4 million resulting from a decrease in
restructuring accruals substantially offset by net income of $5.7 million and non-cash charges of $5.0 million
(primarily non-cash interest expense and depreciation).

Net cash provided by investing activities was $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, which
was comprised of proceeds of $14.7 million received from the sale of the human capital consulting business
offset by restricted cash of $2.6 million and the purchase of property and equipment of $0.7 million. The
Company anticipates that its capital additions for 2003 will be slightly higher than 2002 levels.

Net cash used in financing activities was $13.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
primary components of net cash used in financing activities were $11.2 million of repayments under the
Company’s Senior Credit Facility and $2.6 million of payments of other debt and capital leases obligations.

The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are cash on hand, restricted cash (for bonus payments only)
and cash flow from operations. The Company believes that the available capacity from these sources will be
sufficient to meet its operating and capital requirements for the next twelve months. However, there can be no
assurances that the Company’s actual cash needs will not exceed anticipated levels, that the Company will
generate sufficient operating cash flows to fund its operations in the absence of other sources or that
acquisition opportunities will not arise requiring resources in excess of those currently available. In particular,
the Company has the option of extending the employment and non-compete agreements with Messrs. Fischel
and Carlton from: their current expiration of July 16, 2003 to January 13, 2004. In order to exercise such
option, the Company must pay Messrs. Fischel and Carlton an aggregate amount of approximately
$3.5 million, including interest, on or before July 13, 2003 and an aggregate amount of $1.6 million within five
days of collection of a specified receivable but in no case later than December 31, 2003. The Company
currently intends to exercise such option from cash flows from operations. In order for the Company to further
extend these agreements from January 16, 2004 through December 31, 2008, the Company will need to make
aggregate payments to Messrs. Fischel and Carlton of $20.0 million by January 15, 2004. We will require
additional financing in amounts that we cannot determine at this time in order to make all of the payments
required to extend these agreements to December 31, 2008. We expect that we will need to raise funds
through one or more public or private financing transactions.

Effective December 31, 2002, the Company and its senior lenders amended the Senior Credit Facility. In
connection with this amendment to the Senior Credit Facility, Knowledge Universe, Inc., an affiliate of our
controlling shareholder Nextera Enterprises Holdings, Inc., purchased a $5.0 million junior participation in
the Senior Credit Facility. On January 7, 2003, the Company borrowed $5.0 million under the Senior Credit
Facility to fund the first payment required under the employment and non-compete agreements entered into
with Messrs. Fischel and Carlton. The Company’s outstanding liability under the Senior Credit Facility after
the borrowing of the above mentioned $5.0 million was $32.2 million. The Senior Credit Facility requires that
$4.7 million of outstanding borrowings be permanently reduced in each of 2003 and 2004. The maturity of the
Senior Credit Facility was extended to January 1, 2005. Borrowings will continue to bear interest at the
lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with the borrowing rate potentially being reduced 50 basis points upon achieving
certain financial and operational milestones. The Company will pay annual administrative fees of $0.3 million,
payable monthly, and $0.9 million of aggregate back-end fees will be payable upon the maturity of the Senior
Credit Facility. The back-end fees can be waived if the Company repays the Senior Credit Facility prior to
maturity. All administrative fees paid to the senior lenders is recorded by the Company as interest expense. An
affiliate of Knowledge Universe has agreed to continue to guarantee $2.5 million of the Company’s obligations
under the Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Credit Facility contains covenants related to the maintenance of
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financial ratios, operating restrictions, restrictions on the payment of dividends and disposition of assets. The
covenants are measured quarterly and have been set at varying rates, the most restrictive at approximately 15%
below the Company’s projected operating results. If the results of operations significantly decline below
projected results and we are unable to obtain a waiver from the Company’s senior lenders, the Company’s debt
would be in default and callable by the senior lenders. If our projections of future operating results are not
achieved and our debt is placed in default, we would experience a material adverse impact on our reported
financial position and results of operations.

The following summarizes the company’s significant contractual obligations and commitments that
impact its liquidity.
Payments due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

(in thousands)
Senior Credit Facility . ................ $32,200(1) $ 4,735 $27465 § — $ —
Debentures due to affiliates ............ 47,748 — 47,748 — —
Long-term debt and capital leases ...... 1,472 689 313 165 305
Operating leases ..................... 13,535 2,090 3,051 2,950 5,444
Total contractual obligations ........... $94,955 $ 7.514 $78,577 $ 3,115 $ 5,749

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
Total
amounts

Other Commitments committed Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

(In thousands)
Non-compete agreements. ............ $25,000 $25,000 $ — $ — $ —

(1) The Senior Credit Facility obligation includes $5.0 million of the Junior Participation in the Senior
Credit Facility. The $5.0 million was used on January 7, 2003 to fund the Company’s exercise of its
option to extend the employment and non-compete agreements with Messrs. Fischel and Carlton from
January 16, 2003 through July 15, 2003.

The Senior Credit Facility, Debentures due to affiliates, long-term debt and capital leases, and operating
leases are explained in detail in Notes 6 and 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

New Accounting Standards

Please refer to Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of new
accounting pronouncements and the potential impact to the Company’s consolidated results of operations and
consolidated financial position.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are
based upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, the
Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to restructuring charges, the realizability of
outstanding accounts receivable, deferred tax assets, debt covenants, and intangible assets. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
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of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The Company has identified the following critical accounting policies based on significant judgments and
estimates used in determining the amounts reported in its consolidated financial statements and has discussed
the development and selection of such critical accounting policies with the audit committee of the Board of
Directors.

Restructuring charges. The Company has recorded significant restructuring charges over the past year
and as of December 31, 2002, has $1.5 million of restructuring reserves recorded on the balance sheet.
Substantially all of these reserves relate to the cost of exiting certain leased facilities. During 2002, the
Company reversed $0.7 million of restructuring reserves as a result of a favorable lease termination. The
reserves have been estimated based on the remaining term of the leases and assumptions as to the Company’s
ability to sublease the space at current market rates or enact a buyout of the Company’s obligation. Should the
Company be successful in exiting the lease obligations prior to their scheduled expiration date or if subleasing
assumptions change due to economic conditions in the real estate market, which could include our sub-tenants
defaulting on their lease commitments, the restructuring reserves could vary significantly.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In situations where we are aware of circumstances regarding a specific customer’s
ability or intention to meet its financial obligations to us, we record a specific reserve for bad debts against
amounts due to the Company to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will
be collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on a three-year historical
experience percentage. If circumstances change, our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due us could
be reduced by a material amount.

Deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately $44.8 million of
deferred tax assets related principally to domestic loss carryforwards that expire in 2022, for which a 100%
valuation allowance has been recorded. The realization of these assets is based upon estimates of future
taxable income. Due to the Company’s three-year cumulative loss position, the Company is unable to
recognize such assets as of December 31, 2002 under generally accepted accounting principles. The valuation
allowance will be reviewed periodically to determine its appropriateness.

Intangible Assets. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company ceased amortizing goodwill arising from acquisitions
completed prior to July 1, 2001. In lieu of amortization, the Company performs an impairment review of
goodwill and intangible assets. Impairment tests are performed annually, or more frequently if there are other
indicators of impairment. As a result of the Company’s annual review, it was determined that there was no
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets as of December 31, 2002. In the future, the Company will
conduct an annual impairment review. If it were determined through the impairment review process that
goodwill has been impaired, the Company would record an impairment charge in the statement of operations.

The Company assesses the impairment of identifiable intangibles whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. When it is determined that the carrying
value of intangibles may not be recoverable, the Company measures any impairment based on an estimated
fair value of the Company. The fair value of the Company is determined based on (i) a projected discounted
cash flow using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the
Company’s business model, and (ii) the market comparables of similar companies.

Goodwill and intangible assets amounted to $77.5 million as December 31, 2002.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates primarily from our Senior Credit Facility. We do not
currently use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. A hypothetical
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100 basis point adverse move in interest rates along the interest rate yield curve would not have a material
adverse effect on interest sensitive financial instruments at December 31, 2002,

Foreign Currency Risk

Currently, the majority of the Company’s sales and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars and as a
result we have not experienced significant foreign exchange gains and losses to date. While the Company is
conducting some transactions in foreign currencies, no significant foreign exchange gains or losses are
anticipated. The Company has not engaged in foreign currency hedging activities to date.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Nextera Enterprises, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

/s/ ERNST & YounGg LLP

Providence, Rhode Island
January 31, 2003
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2002

2001

(Dollar amounts
in thousands,
except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... ... i i e $ 1606 $ 4465
Restricted cash ... ... o 2,650 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,306 and $2,976 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively . ... ... 20,344 19,526
Due from affillates . ... ... 25 65
Assets held for sale . ... ... . — 11,509
Prepaid expenses and other Current assets .. .........uvir i etiinnrnneernneennn... 1,051 895
Total CUTTENt SSEIS . . ...ttt et e e e 25,676 36,460
Property and equipment, NET .. ... .ottt 2,316 4,003
Intangible asSets .. ... .. 77,504 77,504
0 1 =5 o T--1 -1 ¢ 1,722 3,215
Total A8SBLS .. .o $ 107,218 § 121,182
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued exXpenses. .. .. ... $ 14019 $§ 22,744
Accrued restructuring costs, current portion ............ .. il i 1,037 1,738
Senior credit facility . .. ... . e 4,735 14,500
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations ....................... 689 2,618
Total current Habilities . . .. ..ot 20,480 41,600
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations. ....... ... .. ... ... i 783 1,224
Senior credit facility . ... .o 22,465 23,928
Debentures due to affiliates, including accrued interest thereon ......................... 47,748 23,093
Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion ... ..o, 427 4,404
Other long-term liabilities ... ... ... .. e 3,408 1,434
Commitments and COntingencies . .. ... ...ttt e e — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 600,000 authorized
shares designated Series A, 39,630 and 229,440 Series A shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively ...... ... .. ... ... L. 3,963 22,944
Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 95,000,000 shares authorized, 31,911,266 and
31,419,337 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively 32 32
Class B Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 4,300,000 shares authorized, 3,844,200 and
3,869,570 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively........ 4 4
Treasury Stock, zero and 228,303 shares Class A Common Stock at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively . . . .ot e — (294)
Additional paid-in capital .. ... .. e 161,055 162,504
Retained earnings (deficit) . ... . ... (152,932)  (158,600)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) .......... ... . i, (215) (1,091)
Total stockholders’ equity. .. ... ... oo e 11,907 25,499
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. ...t i i $ 107,218 § 121,182

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31

2002

2001

2000

(Dollar amounts in theusands, except

per share amounts)

Nt TEVEIIUES & o\ vt ettt ettt ettt e e e e $75921 § 132,146 $177,270
Cost Of TEVENUES . .. .ottt e e 45,890 86,445 114,664
GrT0SS Profit ..o e e e 30,031 45,701 62,606
Selling, general and administrative expenses ....................... 18,243 44,064 61,066
AMOTLIZAtION EXPEISE « . v v v ettt et ettt ittt e e —_ 4,758 5,436
Goodwill impairment . ...... ... .. — 72,538 —
Special charges (credit) ......... ... i (740) 23,534 8,162
Income (loss) from operations .............c.coviiiiiiinneinnn... 12,528 (99,193)  (12,058)
Interest €Xpense, NEt. . ... ..\t e (6,747) (10,128) (7,773)
Other eXpense . .. ...t e — (7,148) (5,432)
Income (loss) before income taxes........... ... ..o, 5,781 (116,469) (25,263)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ............. ..o, 113 1,054 (1,291)
Netincome (I0SS) ... vvv it i e e i 5,668 (117,523)  (23,972)
Preferred stock dividends . ....... ... ... . ... .. i (1,347) (1,846) (98)
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders .............. $ 4,321  $(119,369) $(24,070)
Net income (loss) per common share, basic....................... $ 012 $ (341) % (0.69)
Net income (loss) per common share, diluted ..................... $ 011 $§ (341) $ (0.69)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic................ 35,730 35,034 35,121
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted .............. 53,154 35,034 35,121

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 1999 .................

Netloss ..ot e e
Foreign currency translation adjustment..........
Unrealized holding loss on certain investments

(net of tax and reclassification adjustments) .. ..
Total comprehensive income ...................
Purchases of Class A Common Stock ...........

Issuance of Class A Common Stock in connection
with option exercises........... ... .. .......

Conversion of Exchangeable Shares
Into Class A Common Stock.............
Conversion of Debentures into Series A Preferred

Cumulative Dividend on Series A Preferred Stock
Balance at December 31,2000 .................

Netloss ..o
Foreign currency translation adjustment..........
Unrealized holding loss on certain investments (net

of tax and reclassification adjustments) ........
Total comprehensive income . ..................
Purchases of Class A Common Stock ...........

Issuance of treasury stock in connection with
restricted stock issuances ....................

Issuance of Class A Common Stock in connection
with Employee Stock Purchase Plan ..........

Value of warrants issued in connection with Senior
credit facility ... o oo

Conversion of Debentures into Series A Preferred

Cumulative Dividend on Series A Preferred Stock
Balance at December 31, 2001 .................

Netincome ..........cooiiiiiiin ..
Foreign currency translation adjustment..........
Unrealized holding gain on certain investments
(net of tax and reclassification adjustments) . ...
Total comprehensive income ...................

Issuance of 228,303 shares of treasury stock in
connection with restricted stock issuances ......

Issuance of 238,256 of Class A Common Stock in
connection with restricted stock issuances ... ...

Value of warrants issued in connection with Senior
Credit Facility ................... .. ...

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock into
debentures (including $328 put premium)......

Cumulative dividend on Series A Preferred Stock
Balance at December 31,2002 .................

Series A Accumulated
Cumulative Class A Other Total
Class A Class B Convertible Common  Additional Retained  Comprehensive Total Stock- Comprehensive
Common Common Preferred Exchangeable Treasury  Paid-in Earnings Income Holders’ Income
Stock Stock Stock Shares Stock Capital (Deficit) (Loss) Equity (Loss)
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
$3_1 §_4 $ — $ 495 $ — $162299 § (17,105) § 333§ 146,057
— — — — — —_ (23,972) — (23,972) $ (23,972)
_ — - — — — — (681) (681) (681)
— — — — — — — (47) 47) (47)
(24,700)
— — — — (947) — — — (947)
— — — — — 636 — — 636
- = —  (495) — 495 - - —
— — 21,000 — — (69) -— — 20,931
= = 98 — - (98) - = -
__ﬂ _4 21,098 — (947) 163,263 (41,077) (395) 141,977
— — — — — —  (117,523) — (117,523) (117,523)
— — — — — — — (554) (554) (554)
— — — — — — — (142) (142) (142)
(118,219)
— — — — (323) — — — (323)
—_ — — — 976 192 — — 1,168
1 — — — — 98 — — 99
— — — — - 880 — — 880
— — — — — (83) — —_ (83)
= = 1,846 — — (1,846) — — —
ﬁ J 22,944 — (294) 162,504  (158,600) (1,091) 25,499
—_ — — — _ — 5,668 — 5,668 5,668
— — — — — — — 749 749 749
— — — —_ — — — 127 127 127
6,544
— — — — 294 (294) — — —
— — — — — 192 — — 192
— —_ (20,328) — — — — — (20,328)
= = 1,347 — — (1,347) — — —_
$£ E_ﬁ $ 3,963 $ — $ — $161,055 $(152,932) $ (215) § 11,907
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31

2002

2001

2000

(Dotlar amount in thousands)

Operating activities
Net Ineome (1088) ...ttt e e $ 5,668
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:

$(117,523)  $(23,972)

Depreciation and amortization .. ...... ... i e 1,798 9,421 9,876
Goodwill Impairment .. ... ... — 72,538 —
Write-off of IMVEStMENtS . .. . . e 621 7,148 5,432
Write-off of fixed asSets . . .o oottt e 375 6,121 1,448
Gain on sale of business unit ........... .. . (621) — —
Gain on reversal of restructuring charge ......... ... ... i (740) — —
Provision for doubtful accounts. .. ... ... .. ... ... i 1,374 2,716 4,552
Non-cash interest paid in kind . ........ ... . 3,362 2,110 2,152
Non-cash equity charges . ... ... . i — 1,965 1,986
Non-cash, other . ... .. . . e 81 — —
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquired businesses:
AcCCoUnts receivable ... ... e (2,192) 9,137 (7,284)
Due from affiliates .. ... i 40 143 (454)
Due to affiliates. . ... . e — — (749)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. ............ .. it 451 1,613 789
Income tax receivable .. ... .. .. e — 4,350 (4,350)
Accounts payable and accrued exXpenses . ... ... (8,605) 5,616 (10,782)
Restructuring Costs . ... ..ot (3,370) 1,672 4,470
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings ........ .. ... .. .. .. ... .. .. .. ... — 422 6,670
Deferred revenue . ... ... ... e — (813) 253
OtNeT .. oo e 1,324 107 92
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. ............. ... ..o (434) 6,743 (9,871)
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment . ..... ... .. . (665) (3,249) (8,585)
Sale/ (acquisition) of business, net of cash ........ ... ... . . i 14,720 — (8,20%)
Other INVESTMENTS . . ... ..ottt et e e e — — (415)
Changes in restricted cash . .. ... . (2,650) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . ........ ... oo 11,405 (3,249)  (17,205)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of Class A Common Stock. ....... ... .. ..ot — 99 566
Repurchases of Class A Common Stock . .. ... i i e — (323) (947)
Due from officers . ... .. e — 30 63
Borrowings (repayments) under senior credit facility ........ ... .. ... . oo oo oL (11,228) (7,594) 23,076
Proceeds from debentures due to affiliates . ...... ... ... .. .. . ... — 7,500 2,500
Borrowings under short-term loan from affiliate .......... ... ... . ... L 560 — —
Repayments under short-term loan from affiliate .......... ... ... ... ... ... L. (560) — —
Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations . .......................... ... (2,582) (3,095) (160)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities............ ... .. (13,810) (3,383) 25,098
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents. .............................. ... (20) 32 (711)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.............. ... ... ... . ... . ... (2,859) 143 (2,689)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ........ ... ... ... ... ... i 4,465 4,322 7,011
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ... ... ... . i $ 1,606 $§ 4,465 4,322
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for Interest . ... ... ... $ 2760 $§ 3,529 5,328
Cash paid during the year for taXes . ... ..t $ 93 295 4,472

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002

1. Dasis of Presentation

Nextera Enterprises, Inc. consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s leading economics consulting firms.
Lexecon provides law firms, corporate clients and regulatory agencies with analysis of complex economic
issues in connection with legal and government proceedings, strategic planning discussions and other business
activities. Lexecon’s services involve the application of economic, financial, and public policy principles to
issues of the marketplace in various contexts and for a number of clients in a variety of industries. Lexecon’s
services fall into the following broad categories: litigation support, public policy studies, and business
consulting.

The majority stockholder of the Company is Nextera Enterprises Holdings, Inc., which is controlled by
Knowledge Universe, Inc., which, in turn, is controlled by Knowledge Universe, L.L.C.

Acquisitions

The Company has used the purchase method of accounting for its acquisitions. Operating results of
acquired companies have been included in the Company’s results of operations only from the effective date of
each respective acquisition. Allocation of purchase price for these acquisitions was based upon estimates of the
fair value of the net assets.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Cambridge Economics, Inc., a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides strategic, economic and
business transformation and other services to a diverse group of domestic and international clients. Cambridge
Economics was acquired for $8.4 million of cash and a $2.1 million promissory note.

Pro forma data is not presented for the acquisition completed in 2000 since the acquisition was not
material to the Company’s results of operations.

2. Significant Accounting Pelicies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company
accounts for its investments in which it owns less than 20% of the voting stock and does not possess significant
influence over the operations of the investee under the cost method of accounting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from consulting services primarily under time and materials billing
arrangements, and to a much lesser extent, under capped-fee and fixed-price billing arrangements. Under time
and materials arrangements, revenues are recognized as the services are provided. Revenues on fixed-price and
capped-fee contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method of accounting and are
adjusted for the cumulative impact of any revision in estimates. Costs and estimated earnings in excess of
billings represent revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed and are recorded with Accounts receivable
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on the balance sheet. Deferred revenue represents billings in excess of revenues recognized and are recorded
with Accounts payable on the balance sheet. Net revenues include reimbursable expenses charged to clients.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and demand deposit accounts. The Company considers
all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash relates to cash deposits held by the Company’s senior lenders, in accordance with the
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 31, 2002 (Senior Credit Facility), to
finance working capital requirements related to employment compensation that was paid in December of 2002
and January 2003. The terms of the Senior Credit Facility require the Company to restrict such amounts on a
monthly basis based on earned bonus amounts so that a certain percentage of the projected earned bonus is
escrowed or paid at specific times. At December 31, 2002, $2.7 miilion was escrowed in a restricted account
for bonuses earned. The Company will continue to escrow funds for bonus payments for 2003 and 2004.

Available-for-Sale Investments

The Company’s marketable equity securities are considered available-for-sale investments and are carried
in “Other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at market value, with the difference
between cost and market value, net of related tax effects, recorded in the “Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)” component of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity. As of December 31, 2002 the available for
sale securities were immaterial. The market value of available-for-sale investments as of December 31, 2001
was $0.4 million which was $0.1 million less than the adjusted cost basis of such investments. The unrealized
gains (losses) component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” was $(72,000) at Decem-
ber 31, 2001.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Furniture and fiXtures. . .. ... ..o e 5-7 years
Equipment . .. ... 3-5 years
SO IWare . . . o e e 3 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the property.
Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation.

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be fully recoverable. The assessment of possible
impairment is based on the Company’s ability to recover the carrying value of the asset based on the
Company’s estimated undiscounted cash flows. '

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) effective January 1, 2002. Under SFAS 142, goodwill
and indefinite lived intangible assets are no longer amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment, or
more frequently if indications of possible impairment exist. The Company performed the requisite transitional
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and annual impairment tests for goodwill and other intangible assets and determined that the goodwill was not
impaired.

The Company assesses the impairment of identifiable intangibles whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. When it is determined that the carrying
value of intangibles may not be recoverable, the Company measures any impairment based on an estimated
fair value of the Company. The fair value of the Company is determined based on (i} a projected discounted
cash flow using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the
Company’s business model, and (ii) the market comparables of similar companies.

If goodwill amortization had not been recorded for 2001 and 2000, the adjusted net loss and adjusted loss
per share would have been as follows:

2001 2000

(Dollar amounts in
thousands, except
per share data)

Net loss as reported . . ..o $(117,523) $(23,972)
Add back: Goodwill amortization. ......... ... ... . i 4,758 5,436
Adjusted net 10Ss .. ..o e $(112,765) $(18,536)
Basic and diluted loss per common share:
Loss per share as reported .. ....... ... ... i $ (341) $ (0.69)
Goodwill amortization . ........... (0.14) (0.16)
Adjusted loss per common share, basic and diluted .................. $ (327) $ (0.53)

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of financial instruments such as cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values based on the short-term maturities of these
instruments. The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value based on references to similar
instruments.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company provides its services to customers in diversified industries, primarily in the United States.
The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral.
The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses and such losses have been within management’s
expectations. No customer accounted for more than 10% of net revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000. During
2001, one customer of Lexecon represented approximately 17% of Lexecon’s net revenues.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated at year-end exchange rates, and
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. The gains and losses resulting from the
changes in exchange rates from year to year have been reported in other comprehensive income. Foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are included in the accompanying statements of operations and are not
material for the periods presented. The foreign currency translation component of “Accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss)” was $(270,000), and $(1,019,000) at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
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Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share

The Company presents two earnings per share amounts, basic earnings per common share and diluted
earnings per common share. Basic earnings per common share includes only the weighted average shares

outstanding and excludes any dilutive effects of options, warrants and convertible securities. The dilutive
effects of options, warrants and convertible securities are added to the weighted average shares outstanding in
computing diluted earnings per common share. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, basic and
diluted earnings per common share are the same due to the antidilutive effect of potential common shares
outstanding.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial reporting and the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted income taxes and laws that will be in effect when
temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Stock-Based Compensation and Other Equity Instruments

As allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) the Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and related Interpretations in accounting
for its employee stock options. Under APB 235, because the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock
options equals or exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation
expense is recognized.

The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to non-employees in exchange for goods or services
using the fair value method. Accordingly, warrants issued to Knowledge Universe, Inc. in connection with an
acquisition and warrants issued to the senior lenders and other creditors have been recorded at their fair value
on the date of grant. '

If the Company had adopted the optional recognition provisions of SFAS 123 for its stock option plans,
net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share would have been changed to the pro forma
amounts indicated below:

Year ended December 31
2002 2001 2000

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except
per share data)

Net income (loss):

Asteported . ... ... $5,668  $(117,523) $(23,972)

Proforma........ ... . .. . . . . . . . (722)  (130,448)  (37,.861)
Net income (loss) per diluted common share:

Asreported ... $011 $ (341) § (0.69)

Proforma.......... $(0.06) $ (3.78) $ (1.08)

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $0.54, $0.48 and
$3.23 per share, respectively, at the dates of the grant. As recommended by SFAS No. 123, the fair values of
options were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model assuming expected volatility of 130% in
2002, 141% in 2001 and 65% in 2000, and a risk free interest rate of 4.70%, 4.75%, and 6.0% in 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively, and an expected life of 6 years in 2002 and 2001 and 10 years for 2000.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”), which
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 is required to be adopted for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not expected to have a material effect
on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of
FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”
(“SFAS No. 145”). Among other items, SFAS 145 updates and clarifies existing accounting pronouncements
related to reporting gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt and certain lease modifications that have
economic effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of SFAS No. 145 are generally
effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, with earlier adoption of certain provisions encouraged.
The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 145 to have a material impact on its financial
position or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS No. 146”). SFAS No. 146 supersedes Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other
Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” (“EITF Issue 94-3”). SFAS
No. 146 requires that a liability for cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred. Under EITF Issue 94-3, a liability for an exit cost as defined in EITF Issue 94-3 was
recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are effective
for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with earlier application encouraged.
Under SFAS No. 146, an entity may not restate its previously issued financial statements and the new
statement grandfathers the accounting for liabilities that an entity had previously recorded under EITF Issue
94-3. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have a material impact on its financial
position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Stock-
Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an amendment of FASB Statement No 123”7 (“SFAS
No. 148”), which provides optional guidance for those companies electing to voluntarily adopt the accounting
provisions of SFAS No. 123. In addition, the statement mandates certain new disclosures that are incremental
to those required by SFAS No. 123. Since the Company will continue to record stock-based compensation in
accordance with APB No. 23, no material impact on the consolidated financial position or results of operations
is expected. The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of this statement as of December 31, 2002.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications were made to the 2001 and 2000 financial statements in order that they may be
consistent with the 2002 presentation.

On January 1, 2002, Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01-14 “Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred” (“EITF 01-14) was adopted by the
Company. EITF Issue 01-14 requires reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred be
characterized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company incurs incidental
expenses in the delivery of services to clients, commonly referred to as “‘out-of-pocket” expenses, that include,
but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Comparative financial statements for prior periods were
reclassified to comply with the guidance of this staff announcement.
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3. Property and Eguipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:
December 31

2002 2001
(In thousands)

EQUIPIMEIT . oottt ettt e e $ 2,089 § 3453
SO WAL . ot 1,838 2,383
Furniture and fIXtures . ........ . . . i e 715 1,149
Leasehold improvements . .. ...ttt i e 1,291 1,610

5,933 8,595
Less: accumulated depreciation ....... ... ... . . i 3,617 4,592
Property and equipment, Met. .. .. ... oeettt e e $ 2,316 $ 4,003

4, Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following:
December 31

2002 2001
(In thousands)
GoodWwill ..o $76,981  $76,981
Intangibles related to personnel ....... ... .. ... ... i 523 523
Intangible @sSets, MET .. ...\ttt ettt et $77,504  $77,504

During 2001, the Company recorded a $72.5 million goodwill impairment charge. The technology
consulting business goodwill charge was $32.0 million due to the exiting of the business and the human capital
consulting business charge was $40.5 million due to the decline in the value of the business directly related to
the downturn in the economy. The impairment of the human capital consulting business was based on the sale
price of the business excluding any contingent consideration that may be achieved in the future based on the
performance of the human capital consulting business. No goodwill or intangible asset impairment charges

were recorded in 2002.

On December 31, 2002, the Company entered into employment and non-compete agreements with the
Company’s two key service providers: Daniel Fischel, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and Dennis
Carlton. These agreements contain covenants not to compete over specified periods in return for cash
compensation. The agreements became effective on January 7, 2003 upon payment of the first installment.
Under the terms of the agreements, Nextera made aggregate payments of $5.0 million on January 7, 2003 to
extend these agreements through July 15, 2003. Messrs. Fischel and Carlton surrendered approximately
1.8 million shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock worth approximately $0.8 million in connection
with the extension of the non-compete provisions. Accordingly, an intangible asset of approximately

$4.2 million was recorded in 2003 and will be amortized over six months.

The Company has the option of extending the non-compete provisions through January 15, 2004 by
paying Messrs. Fischel and Carlton an aggregate payment of $3.5 million, including interest, on or before
July 15, 2003 plus an additional $1.6 million within 5 business days of the collection of a specified accounts
receivable, but in no event later than December 31, 2003. The Company has the option of extending these
agreements from January 15, 2004 to December 31, 2008 by making an additional aggregate payment of

$20.0 million to Messrs. Fischel and Carlton on or before January 15, 2004.
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S. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:
December 31

2002 2001
(In thousands)
Trade accounts payable . ......... ... ... ... . $ 2,320 $ 2,494
Accrued payroll and compensation ............. ... e 7,932 14,960
Accrued benefits. . ... ... 752 2,151
Oher . . 3,015 3,139

$14,019  $22,744

6. Financing Arrangements
Senior Credit Facility

Effective March 29, 2002, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
(Prior Credit Agreement) with the senior lenders. Under the Prior Credit Agreement, the Company agreed to
permanently reduce the borrowings outstanding under the facility by $6.5 million in 2002 and by $8.0 million
in 2003. The Prior Credit Agreement was scheduled to mature on January 2, 2004. Borrowings under the
facility bore interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with the potential for the borrowing rate to be reduced
100 basis points upon achieving certain financial and operational milestones. In connection with the Prior
Credit Agreement, the Company paid annual administrative fees of $0.3 million, payable monthly, and was
scheduled to pay $0.9 million in aggregate fees upon maturity of the Prior Credit Agreement. Additionally, the
senior lenders were issued warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at
an exercise price of $0.60 per share, exercisable at the senior lenders’ sole discretion at any time prior to
18 months after payment in full of all of the Company’s obligations due under the Prior Credit Agreement.
The senior lenders can elect in their sole discretion to require the Company to redeem the warrants for a
$0.2 million cash payment after December 31, 2004, An affiliate of Knowledge Universe, an entity that
indirectly controls Nextera, agreed to guarantee $2.5 million of the Company’s obligations under the Prior
Credit Agreement. The Prior Credit Agreement also contained covenants related to the maintenance of
financial ratios, operating restrictions, restrictions on the payment of dividends and disposition of assets. The
revised covenants were based on the Company’s operating plan for 2002 and 2003.

Effective December 31, 2002, the Company entered into a Seconded Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (Senior Credit Facility), which amended the Prior Credit Agreement, As part of the Senior Credit
Facility, Knowledge Universe, Inc. purchased a $5.0 million junior participation in the Senior Credit Facility.
On January 7, 2003, the Company borrowed $5.0 million under the Senior Credit Facility to fund the first
payment required under the employment and non-compete agreements entered into with Messrs. Fischel and
Carlton. The Company’s outstanding liability under the Senior Credit Facility after the borrowing of the above
mentioned $5.0 miliion was $32.2 million. The Senior Credit Facility requires that $4.7 million of outstanding
borrowings be permanently reduced in each of 2003 and 2004. The maturity of the Senior Credit Facility was
extended to January 1, 2005. Borrowings will continue to bear interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with
the borrowing rate potentially being reduced 50 basis points upon achieving certain financial and operational
milestones. The Company will continue to pay annual administrative fees of $0.3 million, payable monthly,
and the $0.9 million in aggregate back-end fees will continue to be payable upon the maturity of the Senior
Credit Facility. The back-end fees can be waived if the Company repays the Senior Credit Facility prior to
maturity. All administrative fees paid to the senior lenders are recorded by the Company as interest expense.
An affiliate of Knowledge Universe has agreed to continue to guarantee $2.5 million of the Company’s
obligations under the Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Credit Facility also contains covenants related to the
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maintenance of financial ratios, operating restrictions, restrictions on the payment of dividends and disposition
of assets. The revised covenants were based on the Company’s operating plan for 2003 and 2004.

Debentures Due to Affiliates

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had three debentures outstanding in an aggregate amount of
$47.7 million that were issued to Knowledge Universe, Inc. or its subsidiaries. All of the debentures accrue
interest at a rate of 10%. Principal and interest amounts due under all of the debentures are subordinated to
borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility. Currently, interest is being accrued on the debentures, however,
cash payments are restricted under the Senior Credit Facility. The maturity date of all the outstanding
debentures is January 1, 2005.

Nextera issued one debenture on January 5, 1998 to Nextera Enterprises Holding, L.L.C., which was
subsequently assigned to Knowledge Universe Capital Co. LLC. The proceeds of this debenture were used to
partially fund some of the Company’s acquisitions. The outstanding balance of this debenture was $13.4 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002. Interest accrues on this debenture quarterly. Accrued but unpaid interest is added
to the outstanding principal balance.

On December 15, 2000, the Company issued a debenture to Knowledge Universe Capital Co. LLC in an
original principal amount of $10.0 million. Under this debenture, the Company borrowed $2.5 million on
December 15, 2000, $2.5 million on January 15, 2001 and $5.0 million on February 15, 2001. Interest accrues
on this debenture monthly. Accrued but unpaid interest is added to the outstanding principal balance. The
outstanding balance of this debenture was $12.1 million at December 31, 2002.

Effective July 23, 2002, the Company exchanged $20.0 million of Series A Preferred Stock into a
debenture (the Exchange Debenture) with terms equivalent to those contained in the debenture that was
exchanged for the Series A Preferred Stock on December 14, 2000. Solely for purposes of determining the
principal amount of the Exchange Debenture, the Series A Preferred Stock was deemed to have accrued
dividends at a rate equal to 12%, retroactive to December 14, 2000. Accordingly, the principal amount of the
Exchange Debenture was $21.3 million on July 23, 2002. After the exchange of the Series A Preferred for the
Exchange Debenture, $3.9 million of Series A Preferred Stock remained outstanding. Interest accrues on the
Exchange Debenture quarterly. The outstanding balance of the Exchange Debenture was $22.2 million at
December 31, 2002. .

At December 31, Long-term debt consists of the following:
December 31

2002 2001
(In thousands)
Senior Credit Facility ........... e $27,200 $38,428
Debentures due to affiliates. . . ... ... 47,748 23,093
Unsecured note payable to a former stockholder of an acquired company,
issued in connection with a non-compete agreement. Annual payments of
$120,000 are due through May 2010. Interest accrues annually at 8.7%. .. 728 728
Promissory note payable to former stockholders of Cambridge Economics,
interest at 5.88%, paid in 2002 . ....... ... ... ... — 2,100
75,676 64,349
Less: current portion .. ........ ..ttt e 4,853 16,657
Long-term debt ........ .. . . $70,823  $47,692
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Annual maturities of long-term debt for the years ending after December 31, 2002, including the
$5.0 million additional funding in January 2003, are as follows (in thousands):

2003 L e $ 4,853
2004 . 4,802
200 e 70,551
2006 e 79
2007 o e 86
Thereafter ... o e e 305

$80,676

7. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Year ended December 31
2002 2001 2000
(In thousands)

Current:
Federal .. ... . $— $ —  $(1,291)
State .. e 113 800 —
Forelgn ... — 254 —
Total current tax provision (benefit) ......................... ... 113 1,054 (1,291)
Deferred:
Federal . ... .. .. . — — —
Al — — —
Total deferred tax provision (benefif) ........................... — — —
Total tax provision (benefit)..................... . ... . ..., $113  $1,054  §$(1,291)

The reconciliation of the consolidated effective tax rate of the Company is as follows:

Year ended
December 31

2002 2001 2000

Tax (benefit) at statutory rate .......... .. oo 34% (34)% (34)%
State taxes (benefit), net of federal benefit.......... ... ... ... ... .. ... 6 6y —
Permanent differences ........ ... . (2) 2 4
Valuation allowance adjustments, primarily net operating losses not benefited (38) 37 24
Other L 2 2 1
Income tax provision (benefit) ......... ... ... .. ... 2% 1% _(5)%
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2002 2001
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Reserves ..o $ 2,685 § 3,277
Other accrued liabilities . ........ .. . i 1,054 4,514
Depreciation and other ........ ... . ... .. 96 122
Deductible goodwill amortization . .......... .o 1,752 11,850
Net operating loss carryforwards ... ... . ... i 39,784 33,645
Deferred tax assets. ... o e 45,371 53,408
Valuation allowance . . ... 44,785 53,408
586 —

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and other . ... ... i (586) —
$ - 5 -

Valuation allowances relate to uncertainties surrounding the realization of tax loss carryforwards and the
tax benefit attributable to certain tax assets of the Company.

The valuation allowance represented a reserve against all deferred tax assets that must be realized
through the generation of taxable income in future periods.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$99.5 million, which will expire through the year 2022.

8. Related Party Transactions

The Company from time to time performs professional consulting services for Knowledge Universe, Inc.
and certain of its subsidiaries. Revenues recognized from performance of such services were $0.1 million in
2000. No consulting services were performed for Knowledge Universe, Inc. or its subsidiaries in 2002 and
2001. During 2000, the Company recognized $2.9 million of revenue in connection with professional services
performed for an entity whose chairman, founder and Chief Executive Officer was a senior executive of one of
the Company’s subsidiaries. A subsidiary of Knowledge Universe L.L.C. is also a minonty investor in the
entity.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized revenues totaling $1.5 million and $20.6 million from
certain entities in which it holds equity investments. Knowledge Universe L.L.C. or its subsidiaries also made
equity investments in certain of these entities.

The law firm of Maron & Sandler has served as Nextera’s general counsel since its inception. Stanley E.
Maron and Richard V. Sandler, two of the Company’s Directors, are partners of Maron & Sandler. In 2002,
2001, and 2000, Maron & Sandler billed Nextera approximately $0.4 million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million,
respectively, for legal services rendered to the Company.

The Company issued three debentures to Knowledge Universe, Inc. and its subsidiaries. See Note 6 for a
description of these debentures.

As consideration for a guaranty provided by Knowledge Universe, Inc. in connection with the Company’s
acquisition of Lexecon on December 31, 1998, the Company granted to Knowledge Universe, Inc. warrants to
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purchase 250,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $8.00 share. The warrants expire on
December 31, 2003. The Company included approximately $1.0 million, the estimated fair value of the
warrants, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, as a component of its purchase price incurred in
connection with the Lexecon acquisition.

As part of the Prior Credit Agreement, an affiliate of Knowledge Universe pledged a letter of credit in the
amount of $2.5 million as collateral for the Prior Credit Agreement. This guarantee is effective until the
maturity of the Senior Credit Facility, January 1, 2005. Additionally, Knowledge Universe, Inc. purchased a
$5.0 million junior participation in the Senior Credit Facility (see Note 6).

9. Leases

The Company leases its office facilities under operating leases that expire from 2003 to 2012. The
majority of the leases require payments for additional expenses such as taxes, maintenance and utilities.
Certain of the leases contain renewal options. The Company also has operating leases for certain equipment.
Total rent expense was approximately $2.2 million, $4.3 million and $7.5 million, in 2002, 200! and 2000,
respectively. The Company also leases certain equipment under capital leases.

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases (net of
$3.5 million of sublease income) for the years ending after December 31, 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

Capital Leases  Operating Leases

2003 . $631 $ 2,090
2004 . 173 1,562
2005 . 9 1,489
2006 . .. — 1,487
2007 — 1,463
Thereafter ....... ... .. . — 5,444
Total minimum lease payments .............c..eiennreeeeo... 813 $13,535
Less amounts representing interest ............... ... ..., 69
Present value of minimum capitalized lease payments .......... 744
Current POrtion. . ... 571
Long-term capitalized lease obligation ....................... $173

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Class A and Class B Common Stock

At December 31, 2002, the Company had 3,844,200 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding. The
Class B Common Stock has the same economic characteristics as the Class A Common Stock, except each
Class B Common stockholder has ten votes per share of Class B Common Stock. Each share of Class B
Common Stock can be converted by the holder into one share of Class A Common Stock. In 2002,
25,370 shares were converted from Class B Common Stock to Class A Common Stock.

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferved Stock

On December 14, 2000, the Company entered into a Note Conversion Agreement with Knowledge
Universe, Inc. (the Note Conversion Agreement). Under the terms of the Note Conversion Agreement,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. converted $21.0 million of debentures (see Note 6) into 210,000 shares of $0.001
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par value Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock bears dividends at
a 10% rate from issuance through June 30, 2001 and at a 7% rate thereafter. Such dividends are payable
quarterly in arrears in cash or, at the option of the Company, in additional nonassessable shares of Series A
Preferred Stock. Under the Company’s Senior Credit Facility, the Company is currently prohibited from
paying cash dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock.

The Series A Preferred Stock carries a liquidation preference equal to $100 per share and is convertible
into Class A Common Stock at the option of the holder beginning on June 30, 2001. The Series A Preferred
Stock is convertible at a price equal $0.6875 per share, the closing price of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock on December 13, 2000. Each holder of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote on matters
presented to shareholders on an as converted basis.

Beginning on December 14, 2004, in the event that the average closing price of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock for the 30 days prior to the redemption is at least $1.0313, the Series A Preferred Stock may
be redeemed at the option of the Company at a price equal to $106 per share plus accrued unpaid dividends
through December 14, 2005. Each year thereafter, the redemption price will decrease $1 per share until
December 14, 2010, at which point the redemption price will be fixed at $100 per share plus accrued unpaid
dividends.

On July 23, 2002, the Company exchanged $20.0 million of Series A Preferred Stock into the Exchange
Debenture. See Note 6 for a description of the Exchange Debenture.

Treasury Stock

During 2001 and 2000, the Company repurchased 243,000 and 301,400 shares of Class A Common
Stock, respectively. Repurchased shares were used to offset the dilution caused by the Company’s Employee
‘Stock Purchase Plan and Employee Equity Participation Plan. The Company’s repurchases of shares of
Common Stock are recorded as “Treasury Stock” and result in a reduction of “Stockholders’ Equity”. In
January 2002 and July 2001, 228,303 and 316,097 shares of treasury stock were reissued, respectively. When
treasury shares are reissued, the Company uses a first-in, first-out method and the difference between the cost
of treasury shares reissued and the repurchase price is charged to “Additional paid-in capital”.

Employee Equity Participation Plans

The Company has granted options principally under two stock option plans, adopted in 1998 and 1999.
Options granted under these plans have up to a 10-year life and vest principally over three to five year periods,
with certain options subject to acceleration if certain conditions are achieved. The exercise price of options
granted is generally equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Class A common stock on the date of
grant. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had reserved 43,500,000 shares of common for future issuance
under the stock option plans, of which 22,392,980 were available for future grants.
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2002 2001 2000

Weighed- Weighed- Weighed-

Average Average Average
Stock Options Shares Exercise price Shares Exercise price Shares Exercise price
Outstanding at beginning

ofyear ............... 17,812,379 $4.48 19,041,135 $5.49 10,393,401 $7.77

Granted ................ 5,057,500 0.61 4,064,000 0.53 11,252,346 3.57
Exercised............... — — — — (139,857) 4.55
Forfeited ............... (2,121,681) 4.64 (5,292,756) 5.08 (2,464,755) 6.42

Outstanding at end of year 20,748,198 $3.52 17,812,379 $4.48 19,041,135 $5.49

Options exercisable at end

ofyear ............... 9,793,485 $5.97 6,450,586 $6.71 3,514,191 $7.80
A summary of information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2002 is as follows:
QOptions Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Number Average Number
Qutstanding at Remaining Weighted- Exercisable at Weighted-
December 31, Contractual Average December 31, Average
Range of Exercise Prices 2002 Life (Years) Exercise Price 2002 Exercise Price
$0.35- $2.00. ... 13,936,499 8.6 $1.01 3,563,020 $1.32
$2.01- $6.00.................. 1,453,859 7.0 4.65 1,439,103 4.66
$6.01-$14.00.................. 5,357,840 6.5 9.75 4,791,362 9.83
20,748,198 $3.52 9,793,485 $5.97

|
|

Warrants

There were warrants to purchase 3,068,351, 1,668,351 and 250,000 shares of Class A Common Stock
outstanding at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In 2002, the Company issued warrants to
purchase 1,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock to its former landlord in partial settlement of a certain
leased property obligation. These warrants have an exercise price of $0.20 and expire on December 31, 2004.
The warrants include a put provision which allows the holder of the warrants to require the Company to
repurchase the warrants at $0.65 per share. The put provision can be exercised between December 1, 2004 and
December 31, 2004. During 2001 and 2002, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,818,351 shares of
Class A Common Stock to its senior lenders exercisable at prices between $0.60 and $0.86 per share. The
warrants contain put rights at $0.3525 per share, however, the senior lenders cannot require the Company to
reacquire the warrants prior to December 31, 2004. These warrants expire eighteen months after the maturity
of the Senior Credit Facility. The Company has also issued warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock Knowledge Universe, Inc. as consideration for a guaranty provided in connection with the
Company’s acquisition of Lexecon on December 31, 1998. The warrants have an exercise price of $8.00 share
and expire on December 31, 2003.
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11. Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Commeon Share

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the net income
(loss) per common share computation:
Year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000

(dollar amounts in thousands, except per
share data)

Basic net income (loss) per Common Share

Net income (l0SS) .. ..t $ 5,668 $(117,523) $(23,972)
Preferred dividends .. ........ .. ... ... i (1,347) (1,846) (98)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders .. ... .. $ 4321  $(119,369) $(24,070)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic........ 35,730 35,034 35,121

Basic net income (loss) per common share................ $ 012 $ (341) $ (069
Diluted net income (loss) per Common Share

Net income (10SS) . ... i $ 5,668 $(117,523) $(23,972)
Preferred dividends .. .......... .. ... ... .. .. . . ... — (1,846) (98)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders . ... ... $ 5,668 $(119,369) $(24,070)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic........ 35,730 35,034 35,121

Dilutive effect of convertible preferred stock............... 16,565 — —

Dilutive effect of options and warrants.................... 859 — —

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted ...... 53,154 35,034 35,121

Diluted net income (loss) per common share.............. $ 011 §$§ (341) $ (0.69)

In 2002, diluted net income per share was more dilutive with preferred stock treated under the if-
converted method. Accordingly, the 2002 net income available to common stockholders was not reduced by
preferred dividends and the weighted average common shares outstanding for 2002 included the dilutive effect
of the convertible preferred stock.

In 2000, the Company had 3,611,455 of common stock equivalents, consisting of stock options, which
were not included in the computation of earnings per share because they were antidilutive. At December 31,
2001, there were no options which were not included in the computation of earnings per share due to being
antidilutive.

12. Retirement Savings Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor retirement savings plans under the Internal Revenue
Code for the benefit of all of their employees meeting certain minimum service requirements. Eligible
employees may elect to contribute to the retirement plans subject to limitations established by the Internal
Revenue Code. The Plan Administrators select investment opportunities from which participants may choose
to invest. Employer contributions are primarily made at the discretion of the Company. Total employer
contribution expense under the plans was $0.7 million, $1.2 million and $1.9 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.
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£3. Special Charges

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a net reversal of $0.7 million of
previously recorded restructuring reserves due to the favorable settlement of real estate rental obligations. The
reversal had the effect of increasing diluted earnings per share by $0.01 for the second quarter of 2002 and for
the year ended December 31, 2002.

The restructuring charges and their utilization in 2002 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Balance at - Reserves established Balance at
December 31, 2002 Utilized with the sale of December 31,
2001 credit  Non-Cash Cash business unit* 2002

Severance............... $ 255 $ — $  — § (255 $ — $ —
Facilities. ............... 5,579 (740) (L,183) (2,561) 285 1,380
Fixed Assets, other asset

write-downs and other

operating lease

obligations ............ 308 — (120) (554) 450 84

$6,142 $(740) $(1,303) $(3,370) $735 $1.464

* In connection with the sale of the human capital consulting business, a portion of the proceeds received in
excess of the net assets acquired were used to establish restructuring reserves for liabilities and obligations
relating to the human capital business that were not assumed by the buyer.

Of the $1.5 million of restructuring reserves recorded at December 31, 2002, approximately $1.0 million
of cash is expected to be expended over the next twelve months, primarily related to real estate rental
obligations and lease commitments, with the majority of the remainder expected to be paid over the following
two years.

2001

During the quarter ended March 31, 2001, the Company approved actions to re-align and re-size the
Company’s cost structure, primarily within the technology consulting services group, as a result of softening
market conditions and reduced demand for technological services. As a result, the Company recorded special
charges totaling $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance, $0.6 million for the termination of
certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises,
and $2.4 million related to certain employee retention incentives. The headcount reductions included 48
consultants and 7 administrative personnel.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company decided to further re-align and re-size the
Company’s cost structure. As a result, the Company recorded charges totaling $8.0 million consisting of a
$1.8 million severance charge associated with the second quarter’s headcount reduction of 60 professional and
support personnel, primarily in the technology consulting services group; a $5.1 million charge to provide for
the expected costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises and an employee retention incentive-related
expense of $1.1 million.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded $8.8 million of special charges for
continued restructuring efforts. Included within this charge was $1.1 million of severance associated with
55 headcount reductions in the quarter, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing
certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets), and an employee
retention incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.
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During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $1.3 million of special charges.
Included within this charge was $0.5 million of severance associated with 24 headcount reductions in the

quarter, $0.3 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises, and a
$0.5 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets).

The restructuring charges and their utilization in 2001 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Balance at - Balance at
December 31, Q12001 Q22001 Q3 2001 Q4 2001 Utitized Accrual  December 31,
2000 charge charge charge charge Non-Cash Cash Adjustment 2801

Severance.......... $1,301 $1,574 $1,834 $1,072 § 465 $  — §(5562) $(429) $ 255
Facilities. . ......... 1,056 97 4,537 3,554 300 — (3,365) (600) 5,579
Employee Special

Incentives........ 1,736 2,378 1,090 180 — (1,143) (4,241) — —
Fixed Assets, other

asset write-downs

and other operating

lease obligations . . 377 755 584 3,998 St1 (6,517) — 600 308
Other ............. — 605 — — — — (605) — —

$4,470 $5,409 $8,045 $8,804 $1,276 $(7,660) $(13,773) $(429) $6,142

2000

In the fourth quarter 2000, the Company awarded to certain employees special incentive-related
compensation awards. Such awards totaled $6.7 million and are payable in cash and restricted stock during
2001, subject to employees remaining employed by the Company on the dates of the payments. The Company
recorded a special charge of $2.3 million in 2000 associated with the pro rata share of such payments over the
associated vesting period.

In October and December 2000, the Company implemented a plan to reduce its consulting and
administrative staffs, resulting in severance costs of approximately $2.4 million. Approximately $1.7 million of
this charge was paid in the fourth quarter of 2000 and the remainder of the accrual was paid in the first quarter
of 2001. In total, 108 consultants and administrative personnel were terminated. In June 2000, the Company
recorded a charge of $1.9 million as a result of severance costs incurred for seven individuals in connection
with management changes at the Company’s technology consulting business.

Primarily as a result of the fourth quarter workforce reduction described above, the Company identified
and made plans to vacate certain portions of its leased facilities. The Company recorded a charge of
$1.5 million associated with the cost of exiting these facilities, net of estimated sublease income, all of which
was accrued as of December 31, 2000.

Subsequent Special Charges in 2003

In connection with the resignation of the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer in 2003, the
Company will incur a $1.9 million charge in the first quarter of 2003. Approximately $0.8 million relates to
salary continuance until February 2004 and approximately $1.1 million relates to a non-cash charge for fully
vested options, with an exercise price of $2.00 per share, which was previously being expensed over the
anticipated service period. In accordance with the original employment agreement, the former Chief
Executive Officer was to be granted a bonus, if and only if the above mentioned options vested and became
exercisable, equal to the exercise price of the options at the time of the exercise of the options. The portion of
the option exercise price bonus not expensed at the time of the resignation of the former Chief Executive
Officer is required to be expensed immediately due to the accelerated vesting of the options which occurred as
a result of the resignation.
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14, Other Expense

During 2002, the Company recorded an expense of $0.6 million to write down an investment in a
company affiliated with Knowledge Universe to fair value which was offset in full by a $0.6 million gain
relating to the reversal of reserves established as part of the Company’s sale of its human capital consulting
business. During 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded “Other Expense” of $7.1 million and $5.4 million,
respectively, associated with the write down to fair market value of certain equity investments.

15. Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain asserted claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company intends to vigorously assert its rights and defend itself in any litigation that may arise from such
claims. While the ultimate outcome of these matters could affect the results of operations of any one quarter
or year when resolved in future periods, and while there can be no assurance with respect thereto, management
believes that after final disposition, any financial impact to the Company would not be material to the
Company’s financial position and results of operations or liquidity.

16. Disposition of assets held for sale

Effective January 30, 2002, the Company sold substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of its
human capital consulting business. The sales price was approximately $14.0 million in cash (subject to a
working capital adjustment) with potential contingent consideration based on operating performance of the
divested unit over the next two years. All consultants and support staff of the human capital consulting
business were transferred to the acquiring company. In connection with the anticipated sale, a goodwill
impairment charge of $7.5 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001. The net assets sold were
classified as “Assets held for sale” on the balance sheet at December 31, 2001. The components of the assets
held for sale were as follows:

December 31,

2001
Accounts receivable .. ... $ 5,511
Fixed assets ..ot 3,754
Intangible assets ... ... . 4,134
Other assets . ... it e 466
Assets held for sale . ... .. 13,865
Accounts payable and accrued €Xpenses. .. ... ... 2,356
Assets held for sale, net ... ... . $11,509

After transaction expenses and the establishment of reserves for idle assets and vacant properties, the
Company recorded a gain of $0.6 million in 2002 on the disposition of the assets. The gain was recorded as
“Other Expense” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and was offset in full by an expense to write
down an investment in a company affiliated with Knowledge Universe to fair value.
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17. Quarterly Information (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth

2002
NeEt TEVENUES. . o oo e e e e $ 20849 § 18,166 $ 19,353 $ 17,553
Gross profit . . ..o e 3,394 7,044 7,810 6,783
Income before income taxes .. ......... ... ..., 1,778 2,410 1,536 57
Net inCome . ... v v e e 1,728 2,360 1,536 44
Net income per common share:

Basic ... $ 004 $ 005 $ 003 $ 000

Diluted ...... . $ 003 $ 004 $ 003 S 0.00
2001 .
INEt TEVENUES . . .t ottt et e e e et e $ 37,522 $ 35771 $ 32,424 $ 26,429
Gross profit . ... v e 10,177 13,457 11,553 10,514
Income (loss) before income taxes .................... (14,105)  (36,619)  (54,370)  (11,375)
Netincome (10SS) . ... ..o, (14,186}  (36,980) (54,469)  (11,388)
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic ... e $ (042) $ (1.08) $ (1.56) $ (0.35)

Diluted ... ... . e $ (042) $ (1.08) $ (1.36) $ (0.35)

The second quarter of 2002 includes a $0.7 million gain due to the net reversal of previously recorded
restructuring reserves due to the favorable settlement of real estate rental obligations. The reversal had the
effect of increasing diluted earnings per share by $0.01 for the second quarter of 2002,

The first quarter of 2001 includes special charges of $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance,
$0.6 million for the termination of certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or
reducing certain leased premises, and $2.4 million related to certain employee incentives.

The second and third quarters of 2001 results included goodwill impairment charges of $26.7 million and
$38.3 million, respectively, related to the technology and human capital consulting groups. Additionally, the
second quarter of 2001 includes special charges of $8.0 million, consisting of $1.8 million for severance
charges, $5.1 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises and an
employee incentive-related expense of $1.1 million. The third quarter of 2001 includes $8.8 million of special
charges including $1.1 million of severance, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and
reducing certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets (primarily fixed assets), and an employee
incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.

The fourth quarter of 2001 includes a goodwill impairment charge of $7.5 million relating to the human
capital consulting business and special charges of $1.3 million for severance costs, facilities and asset write-
downs.

The 2001 amounts have been adjusted to reflect reimbursable expenses as net revenues and cost of sales
in accordance with EITF Issue 01-14 “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursement Received for
“Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred.”

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 18. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Proposal 1 — Election of
Directors” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company (the
“Proxy Statement”) which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002, and is incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 138, Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Executive Compensation” in our
definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by
reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this [tem is set forth in the sections headed “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive
Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 14. Controls and Proceduves

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the Company’s Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing
and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective.

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect the internal controls subsequent to the date the Company completed its evaluation.
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Item 5. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report as Exhibits:

1. The following Consolidated financial statements and report of independent auditors are included in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K:

o Report of Independent Auditors

o Consolidated Balance Sheets

o Consolidated Statements of Operations

o Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

o Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

¢ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this report and is attached hereto:

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description

3.1(1) Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1(3) Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate

4.2(4) Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special
Rights of Preferred Stock and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions Thereof of Series A
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Nextera

4.3(4) Note Conversion Agreement by and between Knowledge Universe, Inc. dated as of December 14,
2000.

4.4(5) Letter Agreement between Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated
June 29, 2001.

4.5(18) Letter Agreement between Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated
March 29, 2002.

4.6(18)  Letter Agreement between Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated
June 14, 2002.

4.7(20) Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of December 31, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Fleet National Bank.

4.8(20) Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of December 31, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

49(20) Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of December 31, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Fleet National Bank.

4.10(20) Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of December 31, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

10.1(6)* Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Participation Plan

10.2(7)* Nextera/Lexecon Limited Purpose Stock Option Plan

10.3(8) Stockholders Agreement dated as of August 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, L.L.C.,

Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and the individuals and other parties listed on the Table of Stockholders
attached thereto as Schedule A.
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Exhibit
Number

10.4(2)

10.5(8)
10.6(2)
10.7(8)
10.8(9)
10.9(10)
10.10(16)
10.11(9)*
10.12(9)*
10.13(9)*

10.14(11)
10.15(12)

10.16(13)
10.17(13)

10.18(14)

10.19(14)

10.20(12)*
10.21(12)*
10.22(16)*
10.23(16)*

10.24(15)

10.25(17)
10.26(17)

10.27(17)

Description

First Amendment to Stockholders Agreement dated as of December 15, 1998 by and among
Nextera Enterprises, L.L.C., Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and the individuals and other parties listed
on the signature pages thereto.

Contribution Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Lexecon Inc. and the shareholders of Lexecon Inc. listed on the signature pages thereto.

Letter agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. and the individuals listed on the signature page thereto.

Warrant to Purchase Class A Common Stock of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated as of
December 31, 1998 issued to Knowledge Universe, Inc.

Amended and Restated Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the principal amount of
$24,933,543.66 dated as of December 31, 1997.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated as of
April 15, 1999.

Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the principal amount of $10,000,000 dated as of
December 15, 2000.

Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and between Lexecon Inc. and Andrew M.
Rosenfield.

Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 between
Lexecon Inc. and Daniel R. Fischel.

Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 between
Lexecon Inc. and Dennis W, Carlton.

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
December 31, 2000.

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
November 14, 2000.

Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto.

Guarantee and Security Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto.
Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., Fleet National Bank and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
March 30, 2001.

Limited Guaranty Agreement dated as of March 30, 200l by Knowledge Universe
Capital Co. LLC.

Employment Agreement dated October 24, 2000 between Nextera and Michael P. Muldowney.
Employment Agreement dated October 25, 2000 between Nextera and David Schneider.
Binding term sheet between Nextera Enterprises, Inc., David M. Schneider, Vincent C. Perro

and Michael P. Muldowney entered into in October 2001 regarding certain management
incentive arrangements.

Termination Agreement, Waiver and General Release between Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Sibson & Company LLC and Vincent C. Perro dated January 29, 2002.

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 30, 2002 by and among The Segal Group, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Sibson & Company, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2002 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., its subsidiaries, Bank of America, N.A. and Fleet National Bank.

Amended and Restated Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of March 29, 2002 by and
between Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Fleet National Bank.

Amended and Restated Limited Guaranty Agreement dated as of March 29, 2002 by and
between Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Fleet National Bank.
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Exhibit
Number

10.28(17)

10.29(17)
10.30(17)
10.31(17)
10.32(17)
10.33(19)
10.34(19)
10.35(19)
10.36(19)

10.37(20)

10.38(20)

10.39(20)

10.40(20)
10.41(20)
10.42(20)
10.43(20)*
10.44(20) *
10.45(20)
10.46(20)
10.47(20)
10.48(20)

10.49(20)

Description

Amendment to Amended and Restated Limited Guaranty Agreement, dated as of March 29,
2002 by and between Knowledge Universe Capital Co. LLC and Fleet National Bank.
Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of March 29, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Fleet National Bank.

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of March 29, 2002 by and between
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A.

Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of March 29, 2002 by and between Nextera Enterprises, Inc.
and Fleet National Bank.

Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of March 29, 2002 by and between Nextera Enterprises, Inc.
and Bank of America, N.A.

Funding Agreement dated as of September 27, 2002 among Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Fleet
National Bank, Bank of America, N.A. and Knowledge Enterprises, Inc.

Exchange Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the principal amount of $21,292,550.00
dated as of July 23, 2002.

Guarantee and Security Agreement dated as of July 23, 2002 among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto.

Subordination Agreement dated as of July 23, 2002 among Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Knowledge
Universe, Inc. and Knowledge Universe Capital Co., LLC.

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 31, 2002 by and among
Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., Fleet National Bank and the entities listed on
the signature pages thereto.

Junior Credit Participation Agreement dated as of December 31, 2002, by and among Fleet
National Bank, Bank of America, N.A., Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Nextera Enterprises, Inc.
Second Amended and Restated Subordination Agreement by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., Knowledge Universe Capital Co. LLC, Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Fleet
National Bank, as Agent.

Second Amendment to Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the original principal amount of
$10,000,000 dated as of December 15, 2000.

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the
original principal amount of $24,970,000 dated as of January 5, 1998.

First Amendment to Exchange Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the original principal
amount of $21,292,550 dated as of July 23, 2002.

Agreement among Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Lexecon, Inc. and Dennis W. Carlton dated as of
December 31, 2002.

Agreement among Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Lexecon, Inc. and Daniel R. Fischel dated as of
December 31, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated Revolving Note executed by Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in favor of
Fleet National Bank dated as of December 31, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated Revolving Note executed by Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in favor of
Bank of America, N.A. dated as of December 31, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated Term Note executed by Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in favor of
Fleet National Bank dated as of December 31, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated Term Note executed by Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in favor of
Bank of America, N.A. dated as of December 31, 2002.

Second Amended and Restated Guarantee and Security Agreement executed by Nextera

Enterprises, Inc. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto in favor of Fleet National
Bank dated as of December 31, 2002.

50




Exhibit

Number Descripticn

10.50(20) Second Amended and Restated Limited Guaranty Agreement by Knowledge Universe

Capital Co. LLC, in favor of Fleet National Bank and Bank of America, N.A. dated as of
December 31, 2002.

10.51(21)* Letter dated January 9, 2003 between David Schneider and Nextera Enterprises, Inc.
10.52(22)* Letter dated as of February 1, 2003 between Richard L. Sandler and Nextera Enterprises, Inc.
21.1(16)  List of Subsidiaries

23.1(16)  Consent of Independent Auditors

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7

(8)

)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated November 17, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-63789) dated January 21, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 7 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-63789) dated May 17, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an appendix to Nextera’s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders held
on July 12, 2001, filed on June 20, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 6 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-63789) dated May 6, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-63789) dated
September 18, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated February 24, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated April 16, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/ A for the quarter ended September 30,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on February 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
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(20) Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

(21) Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on February 6, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(22) Filed herewith.
* Indicates a management plan or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SCHEDULE II

NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
Beginning of  Charged to End of
Bescription Period QOperations  Acquisitions  Deductions Period
Period ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $ 953,000 $4,552,000 $50,000 $3,004,000 $2,551,000
Period ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $2,551,000 $2,716,000 $ — $2,291,000 $2,976,000
Period ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $2,976,000 $1,374,000 $ —  $2,044,000 $2,306,000

{b) Reports on Form 8-K

Nextera did not file any reports on Form 8-K during the three months ended December 31, 2002,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.

/s/ DaNIEL R. FISCHEL

Daniel R. Fischel,
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

March 31, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ DANIEL R. FISCHEL Chairman of the Board, March 31, 2003
Daniel R. Fischel President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ MIcHAEL P. MULDOWNEY Chief Operating Officer March 31, 2003
Michael P. Muldowney and Chief Financial Cfficer
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ MICHAEL J. DOLAN Chief Accounting Officer (Principal March 31, 2003
Michael J. Dolan Accounting Officer)
/s/  RICHARD V. SANDLER Vice Chairman of the Board March 31, 2003

Richard V. Sandler

/s/  JamEes CORISTON Director March 31, 2003
James Coriston

/s/  STEVE FINK Director March 31, 2003
Steve Fink
/s/ RALPH FINERMAN Director March 31, 2003

Ralph Finerman

/s/  KEITH D. GRINSTEIN Director March 31, 2003
Keith D. Grinstein

/s/ STANLEY E. MARON Director March 31, 2003
Stanley E. Maron

/s/  KARL SUSSMAN Director March 31, 2003
Karl Sussman
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I, Daniel R. Fischel, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Nextera Enterprises, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant
and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

By: /s/ DanNIEL R. FISCHEL

Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 31, 2003
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I, Michael P. Muldowney, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-X of Nextera Enterprises, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant
and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses.

By: /s/ MiICHAEL P. MULDOWNEY

Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 31, 2003
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BOARD CF DIRECTORS

Dantel R, Fischel - Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Ofticer
Richard V. Sandicr - Vice Chairman of the Board

James ML Coriston - Director

Ralph Finerman - Director

Sreven B Fink - Director

Keith 1) Grinstein - Director

Stanlev E. Maron - Director

Kar] Sussman - Director

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Dyaniel IR Fischel - Chairman ot the Board, President, and Chief Executive Ofhicer
Michael P Muldowney - Chiet Operating Oflicer, and Chief Financial Officer
Michael J. Dolan - Chief Accounting Officer, and Corporate Controller

STOCK LISTING
Nextera bnterprises, Inc, Class A Common Stock 1s traded on the NASDACQ) Small Cap Marker under the symbot
of NXRA.

TRANSFER AGENT
Inquirics coneerning the transfer or exchange of shares, lost stock certificares, duplicate mailings, or changes of address
should be directed to the Companys transfer agent at:

Mellon [nvestor Services
Overpeck Centoe

85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
(80O0) 288-9541

(201) 329-8660
wwiwanelloninvestor.com

INVESTOR INFORMATION REQUESTS
Lavestors, shareholders and security analysts seeking information should refer to the Company’s website at

wivwenextert.cont or call Nexteras tnvestor relations firm Citigate Sard Verbinnen ar (212} 687-8080),

June 11, 2003

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The tollowing discussion contains “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements give our current expectations
or forecasts of future events. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historie or
current facts. They use words such as “anticipate, “estimate,” “expect,” "project,” “intend.” “plan.” “believe.” and other words
and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular,
these forward-looking statements include stacements relating to future actions or the outcome of financetal results. From
time to time, we also ay provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials released to the public.
Any or all of the forward-looking statements in this annual report and in any other public statements inay turn out to be
incorrect. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertaintics. Consequently,
no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual results may vary materially. Forward-looking statements are based
on many factors that may be outside our control, causing actual results to differ materially from those suggested. These tactors
include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the caption “liem 1. Business - Factors Thar May Atteet Our Future
Performance™ i the Companys Form 10-K tiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31,2003, New
factors cmerge from time to thne, and it is not possible for us to predict all these factors nor can we assess the impact of
these factors o our business or the extent to which any factor or combination ot factors may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertaintios, you should not place
undue refiance on forward-fooking statements as a prediction of actual results,
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